

STATE AND PERSPECTIVES OF CLIMATE CHANGE IN MEXICO:



© Francisco Estrada Porrúa, Jorge Zavala Hidalgo, Amparo Martínez Arroyo, Graciela Raga, Carlos Gay García.

© Prologue, William H. Lee Alardín

State and Perspectives of Climate Change in Mexico a Starting Point

First edition 2023

D.R: © 2023

Programa de Investigación en Cambio Climático (Climate Change Research Program) Edificio de Programas Universitarios (University Programs Building) Investigación Científico S/N, Ciudad Universitaria Zip. 04510, Mexico City https://www.pincc.unam.mx

October 2023

ISBN: 978-607-30-8172-6

Made in Mexico

Editorial coordination: Rubén Darío Martínez Ramírez Editorial oversight: Gerardo Mendiola Patiño Interior and cover design: Álvaro Edel Reynoso Castañeda Translation: The Seven Seas Translations Agency, S.C.

Coordinators and Authors of This Summary

Francisco Estrada Porrúa, Jorge Zavala Hidalgo, Amparo Martínez Arroyo, Graciela Raga, Carlos Gay García.

Authors of Reports

Altamirano del Carmen, M.A., Aguirre-Liguori, J.A., Aguirre-Peña, A., Alvarez-Filip, L., Becker, I., Burquez-Montijo, A., Calderón Bustamante, O., Carrasco González, F., Correa-Metrio, A., Castelán Hernández, C.I., Dominguez, O., Elizarrarás Rios, L.G., Escobedo-Galván, A.H., Estrada, F., Fernández-Eguiarte, A., Fernández-Castel, K.P.J., García García, M.A., García Peña, G., Garrido-Garduño, T., Gómez-Ramos, O., Gómez-Ruiz, P.A., González-Salazar, C., Gress Carrasco, F., Hurtado-Díaz, M., Islas Samperio, J.M., Jaramillo, V.J., Jiménez-García, D., Lara-Resendiz, R., López-Espinoza, E.D., Luna-Aranguré, C., Martínez Arroyo, M.A., Martínez-Meyer, E., Mazari Hiriart, M., Mendoza-González, G., Mendoza-Ponce, A., Minero Cruz, V.O., Murguía-Flores, F., Murray Tortarolo, G.N., Nava-Bolaños, A., Ochoa-Ochoa, L., Ortiz Haro, G.A., Osorio-Tai, M.E., Perea, K., Prieto-Torres, D., Raga, G., Ramírez-Barahona, S., Rangel-Moreno, K., Riojas-Rodríguez, H., Sáenz-Romero, C., Salazar Frausto, J.L., Saldaña Rangel, I.E., Stephens, C.R., Torres, V., Vargas, R., Velasco, J.A., Zarza Alvarado, M.A., Zarza Villanueva, H., Zavala Hidalgo, J.

Participating Institutions and Agencies

Biodiversity Institute, University of Kansas; Centro Universitario de la Costa, Universidad de Guadalajara; División de Ciencias Biológicas y de la Salud, UAM; Departamento de Ciencias del Agua y Medio Ambiente, Instituto Tecnológico de Sonora; Departamento de Ecología Tropical, Universidad Autónoma de Yucatán; Dirección General de Repositorios Universitarios, UNAM; Ecology and Evolutionary Biology, University of California; Facultad de Ciencias, UNAM; Facultad de Estudios Superiores Iztacala, UNAM; Facultad de Ingeniería, UNAM; Facultad de Medicina Veterinaria y Zootecnia, UNAM; Facultad de Medicina, UNAM; Instituto de Biología, UNAM; Instituto de Ciencias de la Atmósfera y Cambio Climático, UNAM; Instituto de Ciencias del Mar y Limnología, UNAM; Instituto de Ciencias Nucleares, UNAM; Instituto de Ecología, UNAM; Instituto de Investigaciones sobre los Recursos Naturales, Universidad de Michoacán; Instituto de Investigaciones en Ecosistemas y Sustentabilidad, UNAM; Instituto Nacional de Salud Pública; Laboratorio de Biología Acuática, Universidad de Michoacán; Laboratorio Nacional de Ciencias de la Sostenibilidad, UNAM; Servicio Mareográfico Nacional, UNAM; Unidad de Recursos Naturales, Centro de Investigación Científica de Yucatán; Programa de Investigación en Cambio Climático, UNAM.

Contenido

Prologue		.9
Introduction		11
Background	 •	13
Climate Change in Mexico: Observations and Projections		15
Changes Observed in the Climate		15
Evolution of Extreme Events During the Period Observed		18
Mean Sea Level along Mexican Coasts		22
Climate Projections for the Twenty-first Century.		23
Impacts on Human and Natural Systems in Mexico: Diagnosis and Projections		31
Agriculture		31
Biodiversity		36
Water Resources		40
Human Health		45
Socioeconomic Impacts		52
Emissions and Mitigation Policies in Mexico.		59
Emissions Inventory		59
National Climate Change Policy on Mitigation and Adaptation		64
Digital Tools and Resources.		67
AIRCC-Clim V2: Regional probabilistic climate change scenario generator		67
AIRCCA: A model for estimating impacts on crop growing due to climate change		67
AIRCC-BioDiv: A model for the estimation of impacts on species richness		68
DataPINCC: Climate change research data and resource portal		69
EpI-SPECIES University spatial eco-epidemiology platform		69
UNIATMOS: Regionalized climate change scenario CORDEX, AR6, IPCC atlas and repository		
for Mexico, Central America, Cuba, Jamaica, and southern United States of America.		70
References.		71



Prologue

n today's world, global change impacts different areas: climate, pollution, loss of biodiversity, energy transition, and food sustainability to name but the most critical. Gathering accurate information for in-depth analysis is paramount to the design and implement viable public policies.

With this publication, the National Autonomous University of Mexico (UNAM: *Universidad Nacio-nal Autónoma de México*) reaffirms its commitment to education and to the generation and dissemination of scientific knowledge to address the most pressing global and national problems of our times. At a time when the environmental crisis in all its manifestations is intensifying and its effects are becoming increasingly evident, this publication marks the beginning of a series of periodic assessments of the status and perspectives of climate change in our country. It is our goal to use an integral, multidisciplinary approach involving close collaboration with academic institutions and agencies to provide society and decision-makers with the best information and currently available tools to take on this challenge.

Contributions to *State and Perspectives of Climate Change in Mexico: Starting Point* were made by fifty-eight researchers and experts from UNAM institutes, ten universities, and research centers in Mexico and other countries. This joint effort, coordinated by the Climate Change Research Program (PINCC: *Programa de Investigación en Cambio Climático*) and the Institute of Atmospheric Sciences and Climate Change (ICAYCC: *Instituto de Ciencias de la Atmósfera y Cambio Climático*), considers climate change, along with the intricacy and diversity of its manifestations, as significant challenge to society and the environment in Mexico. In particular, it addresses the current and future implications of the phenomenon for aspects that are central to the country's development, such as agriculture, biodiversity, water, health, energy, and the economy. The analyses presented underscore the urgent need for strategies and policies designed to adapt, mitigate, and transform our climatic and social realities. Achieving these objectives necessarily involves appreciating and supporting the development of scientific and humanistic knowledge, education, and culture.

We are confident that this initial document will serve to encourage a broader participation of the country's scientific community to promote continoued and, sustained research, on climate chage in México, and dissemination of results. UNAM is committed to sustaining this effort over the long term by promoting the formation and consolidation of human resources, projects, and research groups on climate change in Mexico, thereby contributing to an informed more actively involved in decisions for the common good that affect us collectively.

Dr. William H. Lee Alardín Scientific Research Coordinator National Autonomous University of Mexico



Introduction

I limate change is a problem arising from the interaction of complex human and natural systems which has many causes and effects. The profound uncertainty surrounding some processes associated with this global phenomenon, how to evaluate the risks involved and the measures to be taken in response, as well as the possibility of global climate catastrophes, compromise the wellbeing of present and future generations. Moreover, in addition to being a multidimensional phenomenon that encompasses scientific, technological, socioeconomic, political, ethical, and cultural aspects, it is a dynamic, non-linear problem in constant evolution. It is, thus, indispensable to continously generate to continously generate evolution. It is, thus, indispensable to continously generate knowledge concerning its causes and consequences. To provide updated information based on the best available science to society, government, and other decision makers.

Climate change represents enormous challenges—and potential areas of opportunity—for our country. To address them, long-term integral and multi/transdisciplinary research on all of its aspects must be carried out and increasingly fomented. Adaptation and risk reduction require timely, solid knowledge and information on the causes and consequences of climate change, as well as the systems that generate them and are impacted by them, their exposure, vulnerability, and ability to transform and adapt.

Studies conducted over the last three decades by the National Autonomous University of Mexico (UNAM) and other institutions have revealed that Mexico is particularly vulnerable to climate change impacts. In a scenario involving high greenhouse gas emissions, significant negative effects on agricultural production, human health, biodiversity, cities, and energy in addition to significant increases in the frequency and magnitude of extreme events and consequential damages. For example, the economic losses accumulated during this century are estimated to be equivalent to several times today's gross domestic product. Moreover, these impacts will have long-lasting and differentiated effects among the country's diverse social sectors and regions, increasing inequality and making it difficult to achieve poverty reduction targets and sustainable development goals.

Nevertheless limited efforts have been made to summarize and communicate the State of climate change and its effects on the country and to provide an overview of the possible evolutions of the climate system and its influence on natural and human systems during this century. Those most worthy of mention are the six *National Communications to the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change* submitted between 1997 and 2018, and three biennial Update Reports initially coordinated by the National Institute of Ecology (INE, initials in Spanish), which was constituted in 1992, and later by the National Institute of Ecology and Climate Change (INECC, initials in Spanish), constituted in 2012. Elsewhere, in the academic sector, the Mexican Climate Change Report was published by the UNAM's Climate Change Research Program (PINCC) in 2015. While the structures and goals of the aforesaid documents are different, both are, in principle, reference sources of information for making decisions related to climate change and society in general.

To generate updated, timely information on climate change in Mexico, UNAM, through the PINCC and the Institute of Atmospheric Sciences and Climate Change (ICAYCC), decided to undertake the task of carrying out regular assessments of the state and perspectives of climate change in Mexico. This publication marks the start of the production of these regular assessment reports in addition to other special thematic reports related to emerging issues of where greater depth or more frequent updates are required; it does not represent a full assessment report, but a brief account of some of the most relevant aspects for decision-makers. Therefore, this is not intended to be an exhaustive study, but rather reference materials to give readers a quick overview of certain aspects of climate change in Mexico that have been observed or are projected, as well as some of the consequences and actions that might be taken to deal with them.

It also provides an assessment of research needed in several areas and a glimpse of the research agenda. The work involved nine focus groups and contributions were received from fifty-eight research centers and experts from institutes whitin UNAM institutes and another ten universities and research centers throughout the country. As work on this document was in progress, simultaneous studies began on a variety of topics that will make it possible to present a more complete assessment report in the near future with greater participation of the broder national academic community involved in this important topic. We consider the role of UNAM and other national academic institutions of paramount importance to the generation, publication, and dissemination of scientific knowledge on climate change to contribute to decision-making based on the best available knowledge and the development of an informed and participatory society. Achieving this goal requires a long-term effort to build a consensus among multidisciplinary and multi-institutional groups on various aspects of climate change that are not subject to the vagaries of political will and that have sufficient funding to operate and move forward. An effort coordinated by UNAM, with broad participation of Mexican, will have the capacity to call for national and international support to make these conditions possible.

Background

exico's National Communications, coordinated by the federal government, have been submitted intermittently every three to seven years. Thus, thematic continuity has not been maintained; nor has support been obtained for the upkeep of specialized working groups that stimulate advances in research on topics of national relevance. Moreover, the most recent National Communication was published in 2018, and there is no official deadline for the next one. In this context, it is worth noting that it has been over seven years since the UNAM's PINCC published a *Mexican Climate Change Report*, which was the first initiative from academia to present an overall national climate change assessment focused on, and produced in, the country. For the first time, this document presented a diagnosis of what was known about Mexico's climate and its observed changes; as well as compiling available studies on adaptation, it compiled work done on the phenomenon's effects and impacts; moreover, it analyzed the country's contributions to global greenhouse gas emissions and proposals to mitigate them. This was a groundbreaking report as it compiled the knowledge in three volumes: the scientific basis of climate change (Vol. I); impact, vulnerability, and adaptation to climate change (Vol. II); and greenhouse gas emissions and mitigation efforts (Vol. III). Two hundred and forty academics took part in drawing up the report.

Three special reports and the Sixth Assessment Report (AR6) have been published during the Sixth Assessment Cycle of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC), which began in 2016. Among other results, these reports have unequivocally highlighted the role of human activities in global warming and previously observed associated impacts which are predicted to increase considerably in the coming decades. These studies show that regions in low latitudes, with lower levels of socioeconomic development and greater social inequalities, are and will be considerably more affected by climate change than other regions. Even though national experts contributed to the production of the IPCC reports, which are a very important source of information for decision-makers, academia, and society in general, said reports are not designed to meet national or sub-national information needs, nor to present the knowledge of climate change in sufficient detail. Information generated locally by countries is not always properly reflected in international reports. However, national, and sub-national efforts to generate knowledge are key to a better understanding of this phenomenon, its implications, challenges, and areas of opportunity and are decisive to the formulation of public policies in this area.

It is in this context that the UNAM's PINCC and ICAYCC coordinated the creation of this document concerning the status and perspectives of climate change in Mexico. To this end, academics from different UNAM institutes and programs and other universities and institutions in Mexico and abroad were invited to participate. This publication marks the start of regular assessments as both general and specific reports. This initial document presents an assessment of the effects of climate change on the regional climate, extreme events, and adjacent oceans with emphasis on their impacts on agriculture, biodiversity, water, health, energy, and the economy. This document summarizes some of the studies conducted to date and incorporates new research in cases in which it was possible to address some key information gaps. The studies are grouped into four areas: aspects of climate change and variability; impacts on different natural and human systems; greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions; and mitigation strategies. This document is an executive summary based on the results of extensive reports that can be accessed by using the corresponding links in each section. All of these documents should be considered works in progress that will culminate in a national assessment report to be published in late 2024 or early 2025 with the broad participation of academics and national experts.

For the first time, this publication includes a selection of digital resources and specialized software (created by the PINCC in collaboration with the ICAYCC) along with access to the DataPINCC data portal, which makes it possible to view, consult, and process geo-referenced climate change databases. The use of these resources and their possible applications will be made known through webinars so that users can take full advantage of them.

Dr. Francisco Estrada Porrúa Coordinator Climate Change Research Program Dr. Jorge Zavala Hidalgo Director Institute of Atmospheric Sciences and Climate Change

Dr. Amparo Martínez Arroyo Environmental Sciences Department Head Institute of Atmospheric Sciences and Climate Change Dr. Graciela Binimelis de Raga Researcher Institute of Atmospheric Sciences and Climate Change Dr. Carlos Gay García Atmospheric Sciences Department Head Institute of Atmospheric Sciences and Climate Change

Climate Change in Mexico: Observations and Projections

Changes Observed in the Climate

The climate is a complex system that is determined by its internal natural variability, which may take effect over the immediate short-term or over hundreds of years, and by external natural and anthropogenic forces and their interactions. The analysis of climate change focuses on identifying, characterizing, and understanding long-term changes in trends and variability by measuring central tendency and the variability of different climate variables. This section shows some of the main changes in Mexico's climate and demonstrates that it is already considerably different than the climate recorded at the beginning of the twentieth century. For more detailed, complete information, consult the reports specified at the end of this chapter.

Temperature

Average air temperature in Mexico has risen by around 1.69°C (1.59°C to 1.81°C) as compared to the start of the twentieth century.

Considering 1900-1930, as referent period, the increase in average air temperature in Mexico for 2022 is in the range of 1.59°C to 1.81°C, depending on the database used (HadCRUT5, GISSTEMP, NOAA-GlobalTemp_v5). Uncertainty about the magnitude of this increase is largely due to the data retrieval, quality control, and processing methods used by the generating institutions (see **Figure 1a**).

The increase and growth rates of the mean air temperature in Mexico are higher than the global average.

While mean air temperature in Mexico since the beginning of the twentieth century rose by 1.69°C (1.59°C to 1.81°C), the increase in average global temperature was 1.23°C during the same period. The growth rate of the mean annual temperature in Mexico is considerably higher than the average global rate. The global temperature has risen at a rate of 1.90°C (1.78°C to 1.97°C) per century while in Mexico the growth rate is 2.88°C (2.77°C to 3.03°C) per century. Over the next few decades, warming is expected to continue to be faster in Mexico than the global average.

The warming observed in Mexico is due to an increase in the atmospheric concentration of greenhouse gases (GHG), which are anthropogenic emissions that have been produced since the industrial revolution. The general mean air temperature trend in Mexico is determined by anthropogenic GHG forcing while other climate drivers and variability processes have a modulating effect. Without the cooling effect of other forcing agents, the rise in annual average air temperature in Mexico would have been about 70% higher than recorded. The contribution of solar forcing to observed warming represents about 6% of that produced by anthropogenic GHGs¹.

Figure 1. Timeline and spatial trends of mean air temperature in Mexico.



Panel a) Show the mean annual temperature change (°C) in Mexico from 1880 to 2021 compared to 1900-1930. Panel b) shows the trends (°C/100yr) in mean annual temperature change for 1979-2021.

Source: Estrada, F. et al. 2023

Mean annual temperature increases are not even: greater increases are in the northern and southeastern México.

Warming rates show large variations in terms of spatial patterns and the magnitude of the changes; in general, warming rates of 2°C to 4°C per century were recorded across a large part of the country from 1975 to 2021. The different databases (HadCRUT5, GISSTEMP, CRUTS4.05) agree that observed warming rates were higher in northern Mexico. Figure 1b, based in ERAS data from 1979 to 2021, indicates warming rate per century higher than 6°C in the north and close to 5°C in the southeast.

Temperature increases vary throughout the year: they are higher in fall and spring, and lower in winter and summer.

Spring (March-April-May) and fall (Sept-Oct-Nov) are the seasons with the highest increase in mean air temperature: 1.77°C (1.61°C to 2.03°C) and 1.77°C (1.66°C to 1.85°C), respectively, for 1900-1930. Winter (Dec-Jan-Feb) is the season with the lowest rise in mean temperature with 1.51°C (1.37°C to 1.77°C), while the increase in summer (Jun-Jul-Aug) was 1.53°C (1.51°C to 1.56°C).

Precipitation

The average annual precipitation in Mexico has increased by 3.1 (2.4-3.8) mm/month per century since the start of the twentieth century. Climate change has modified the seasonal distribution of precipitation with significant increases in summer and fall.

The databases analyzed (GPCC, CRUTS 4.05) agree that precipitation shows a constant positive trend from 1901 to 2021. However, there is significant uncertainty regarding the magnitude of the trend: 2.4 mm/month per century (GPCC) as opposed to 3.8 mm/month per century (CRUTS 4.05). Significant positive trends were reported for both summer and fall by both databases, but the magnitudes of change vary significantly. According to GPCC, fall and summer precipitation increased at rates of 6.5 and 5.1 mm/month per century, respectively. In contrast, CRUTS 4.05 specifies the corresponding rates of increase as 7.7 mm/month per century in fall and 8.8 mm/month per century in summer.

Changes in precipitation are far from being even across the country. In general terms, precipitation has decreased in northern regions of the country and increased in central and southern regions. Seasonal changes in precipitation are also uneven.

From 1975 to 2021, annual precipitation showed a negative trend of -0.2 to -1 mm/day per century in the northeast and increases of between 0.5 and 2 mm/day per century in most of the central and southern regions of the country. In winter, negative trends in precipitation were observed throughout the country, particularly in the northwest and southeast, with values of up to -2 mm/ day per century. During spring, a pattern of reduction was noted in the northwest along with increases in most of the central and southern regions of the country in agreement with annual precipitation. Summer trends showed large reductions in the north and center, reaching -0.5 to -2 mm/ day per century with the largest decreases in Jalisco, Nayarit, Sinaloa, Tamaulipas, and Nuevo León. In contrast, in the southeast and center of the country, increases of between 0.5 and more than 2 mm/day per century were observed, with the largest ones in Oaxaca and Chiapas. With the exception of the northwest, trends are positive for almost the entire country during fall (between 0.5 and 2 mm/day per century), reaching maxima of above 2 mm/day per century in Tabasco, Veracruz, Chiapas, and Jalisco, as shown in **Figure 2**.

Figure 2. Seasonal precipitation trends in Mexico for 1975-2021.



Panels a), b), c), and d) show precipitation trends for spring, summer, fall and winter, respectively. Units are expressed in mm/day per century.

Source: Estrada F. et al, 2023

Evolution of Extreme Events During the Period Observed

Extreme events both temperature and precipitation over the period (1975-2021) have risen in number, including longer dry periods and higher precipitation amount. Extreme temperature events have increased evenly across the whole country although several indices reveal the influence of low-frequency oscillations that modulate the underlying trends. This section presents a short summary of the extreme events studied and readers are invited to consult the more complete reports mentioned at the end of this chapter.

Extreme Temperature Events

From 1990 to 2020, warm spells lasted longer and reached the highest magnitude on record, wich were observed between 1930 and 1960.

The states of Colima, Michoacán, Guerrero, and Jalisco in central and western regions of the country, experienced the longest warm spells¹ (about 22 days per year), while the shortest spells (between 12 and 15 days per year) occurred in the north. Trends observed during 1980-2018 showed increases of about 10 additional days per decade in the central-western region of the country while increases of approximately 5 additional days per decade were reported in the north. In the rest of the country, increases are in the vicinity of 7-8 additional days per decade. The increase in the duration of warm spells recorded as of the mid 1980s comes after a period of almost thirty years (1960-1990) with the shortest spells recorded for this variable as shown in **Figure 3**.



Figure 3. Evolution of the warm spell duration index (WSDI) during the period observed.

The panel on the left presents the <u>WSDI timeline showing mean warm spell evolution</u> in Mexico. The panel on the right shows the spatial distribution of WSDI trends (1980-2018).

Source: Estrada F. et al, 2023

The percentage of days with maximum temperature above the 90th percentile (OJO: superíndice th) (TX90p) has almost doubled since 1970 considering (1961-1990) as the reference period.

The percentage of days when the maximum temperature is above the 90th percentile considering 90 the reference period (1961-1990) has risen considerably since the early 1980s, when the average

^{1.} This index is defined as the number of days per year with at least six consecutive days when the maximum temperature was greater than 90%

porcentade of days with temperatures greater than the 90th percentile was 9%. In recent years, this value has doubled (17%). Increases greater than 4% per decade are observed in Michoacán and Jalisco while increases are of 3 to 4% in the center and northwest and 2 to 3% in the northeast are of.

The percentage of days with minimum temperature above the 90th percentile (TNX90p) for the reference period (1961-1990) has increased since the 1970s and has accelerated since the 2010s.

In recent years, the TN90p reached its historical high with approximately 20% of the days having minimum temperatures surpassing this threshold. Trends in this variable indicate that the number of dayswith minimum temperature above the 90th percentile period has increased more rapidly in states already possessing the highest percentages of days with temperatures above this threshold. Growth trends in the vicinity of 3% per decade were recorded in the Yucatan Peninsula and the southeast while in the center of the country growth was measured at 2.5% per decade. In summary, the combination of changes occurring at opposite ends of the temperature sacle in TX90p and TN90p, has led to more frequent days with record maximum and higher minimum temperatures, thereby negatively impacting human comfort, health, and labor productivity, especially in the Pacific states.

Extreme Precipitation Events and Droughts

Seasonal rainfall distribution has become more extreme with longer droughts and increasingly extreme precipitation events.

Since the early 2000s, the number of consecutive dry days² has increased from an average of approximately 70 days per year to about 80. The trends observed in this variable are much greater in the northwest, with increases of 6 and up to 8 additional days per decade in Baja California, Sonora, Sinaloa, and Chihuahua.

Very rainy days³ have increased from about 21% to 26% in recent years: an increase of almost 25%. From 1980 to 2018, regions impacted by tropical cyclones and the North American monsoon, were those in wich extreme events contributed a large fraction to the annual precipitation (24-26%). In the rest of the country, the contribution of extreme rainfall events to annual precipitation is close to 23%; during this period, the contribution of very rainy days increased by as much as 2-4% per decade in most of the country.

^{2.} This index accounts for the number of consecutive days with precipitation of less than 1 mm.

^{3.} Very rainy days are defined as those with precipitation above the 95th percentile of rainy days calculated for the reference period (1961-1990).

Extremely rainy days⁴ proportionately exhibiteven larger changes from 6% to 9% of the total precipitation during 1980-2018: corresponding to: a 50% increase. The states with the largest increase in these events are Baja California Sur (3.34%), Yucatán (1.59%), and Colima (1.54%).

Droughts have become more frequent and severe.

According to the Drought Monitor issued by the National Metereological Service, central and northern Mexico have been impacted by frequent, exceptional droughts (D4) as shown in **Figure 4**. Exceptional droughts are characterized by exceptional widespread crop or pasture losses; exceptional fire risk; total water shortage in reservoirs, streams, and wells; and the likelihood of emergency situations water shortages.

Figure 4. Exceptional droughts in 2003-2020.



Source: Ortíz and Haro, G.A., et al 2023; CONAGUA (2020) Drought monitor in Mexico. Consulted on https//smn. conagua.gob.mx/es/climatología/

INEGI (2019). National geostatistical framework. Consulted on https://inegi.org.mx/temas

^{4.} Extremely rainy days are defined as those with precipitation above the 99th percentile of the rainy days calculated for the reference period (1961-1990).

Mean Sea Level along Mexican Coasts

Mean sea level varies markedlythroughout the year and region to region ally. Highest sea levels along the Mexican Pacific coast occur mainly in September and in October along the Gulf of México coast; annual cycles have an average amplitude 0.23m and 0.26m, respectively. The lowest value on Mexican Pacific coasts occurs in February and April and on Gulf of Mexico coasts during the months of January, March, May, or June.

There are differentiated observed increases in mean sea level in the Gulf of Mexico and the Mexican Pacific since the second half of the twentieth century.

The average rate of increase is higher along the Gulf of Mexico (2.4 mm yr¹) than along the Mexican Pacific (1.1 mm yr¹). The trend observed in the Gulf of Mexico is considerably higher than that reported globally (1.8 mm yr¹) during a similar period (Gulf of Mexico: 1946 to 2006, global estimate: 1946 to 2002). Certain regions in the southern Mexican Pacific, particularly on the coasts of Oaxaca and Guerrero, experienced deacreases in mean sea level at an average rate of 1.5 and 2.8 mm yr¹, respectively, as shown in **Figure 5**. This may be due to vertical movements of Earth's crust occurring in the vicinity, or to earthquakes, slow earthquakes and/or subsidence.

Figure 5. Spatial distribution of long-term sea-level trends at 17 coastal locations in Mexico.



Source: López-Espinoza E.D., et al 2023 and the National Tidal Data Service, UNAM.

Rising local sea-level trends are spatially heterogeneous and some of the largest changes are found in regions with a high degree of marginalization.

The highest rate of mean sea level rise is observed in the southern and northwestern Gulf of Mexico. In addition, four of the seven sites analyzed show a higher rate than reported at a global scale (Coatzacoalcos in Veracruz with 2.8 [1.7 to 3.9] mm yr¹, Cd. Del Carmen in Campeche with 3.0 [1.6 to 4.4] mm yr1, Progreso in Yucatán with 3.7 [2.4 to 5.0] mm yr¹, and Cd. Madero, Tamaulipas with 8.3 [2.4 to 14.2] mm yr¹). Particularly, the rate of increase observed in the southern Gulf of Mexico occurs at locations near cities with a high marginalization index. In the Mexican Pacific, the highest rates of sea level rise are observed in the central region and in the Gulf of California, peaking in Manzani-llo (in Colima) and Guaymas (in Sonora) at 2.8 [0.6 to 5] mm yr¹ and 3.7 [1.8 to 5.6] mm yr¹, respectively.

Climate Projections for the Twenty-first Century

This section presents some state-by-state climate change scenarios for the country derived from phases 5 and 6 of the Coupled Model Intercomparison Project (CMIP), the CLIMRISK model and the AIRCC-Clim emulator developed by the Climate Change Research Program, the Institute of Atmospheric Sciences and Climate Change, (both at UNAM) and the VU Amsterdam^{2,3}. The results presented here are based on ensamble simulations data and are useful for illustrating possible changes that may occur; they should neither be taken as a estimates of model uncertainty nor thought of as a forecast. Readers are invited to access the DataPINCC data portal (https://datapincc.unam.mx/ datapincc/) for a wider collection of climate change scenarios.

Up to of the second half of this century, changes in the country's (and the world's) climate are almost entirely determined by emissions, and policy ddecisions made in the previous decades and also by the persistence in memory of the climate system itself.

The changes projected for 2030-2040 are mostly unavoidable through conventional mitigation policies and call for the expansion and strengthening of adaptation strategies with the involvement and joint collaboration of government, society, and academia to co-design said strategies.

The climate changes that will take place in Mexico during the second half of this century, and in the more distant future, depend on the socioeconomic path that global society as a whole decides to take.

In a scenario involving extremely high GHG emissions (SSP585), the average annual air temperature in Mexico could increase by about 6°C by the end of this century (as compared to 1986-2005). In a scenario of GHG emissions similar to current trends without significant international mitigation (SSP370), such an increase could exceed 5°C by 2100. On the other hand, in a scenario involving strict compliance with the Nationally Determined Contribution (NDC; similar to SSP245) commitments adopted by participating countries, the increase in average annual temperature in Mexico could be kept as low as 3°C as compared to 1986-2005. Finally, if the goals expressed in the Paris Agreement were achieved (SSP126), the average temperature in Mexico could stabilize at around 2°C by the end of this century.

Despite significant uncertainty concerning precipitation forecasts, scenarios with high GHG emissions imply significant reductions in average annual precipitation in the country. In contrast, scenarios involving intermediate and low emissions imply changes in the country's average precipitation level similar to those observed in the reference period.

According to the average of all the ensemble simulations from the CMIP6 Intercomparison Project, high GHG emission scenarios (SSP585 and SSP370) would imply a reduction of about 15% (8%) by the end (mid) of the century. Intermediate emissions scenarios like SSP245 project much smaller changes in average annual precipitation for the country (5% or less) during this century and a scenario compatible with the Paris Agreement (SSP126) could imply a slight increase in precipitation.

Simulations of state-of-the-art climate models suggest that the country could face drier and much warmer conditions this century. Projected seasonal changes vary greatly and are very uneven spatially; these differences tend to be accentuated in scenarios of high GHG emissions and longterm forecasts.

In a very high GHG emissions scenario (SSP585), the increase in statewide annual average temperature could range from 1.8°C to 2.5°C from 2050 to the end of the century. The highest rises would occur in the north of the country in states like Coahuila, Chihuahua, and Sonora with up to 2.5°C (2050) and 5.4°C (2090), while Yucatán and Quintana Roo would have the lowest increases (about 1.80°C in 2050 and 3.9°C in 2090). In the SSP585 scenario, by the end of the century the annual temperature rise in 27 states could exceed 4.5°C and, in the case of seven northern states, the rise could be greater than 5°C. All of the above increases are calculated with respect to the average temperature in each state during the reference period 1986-2005.

A generalized decrease in precipitation is projected in all other scenarios involving higher GHG emissions (SSP245, SSP370, SSP585, but not SSP126), especially for the second half of this century. The largest decreases in precipitation are expected in the Yucatan peninsula with values that may exceed -20% in the period 2081- 2100. In general, seasonal reductions are projected for all

seasons with the exception of fall. In for SSP585 scenario for 2050 horizon, the largest increases (>10%) occur in the central region of the country. These increases vary significantly for the states under different GHG emission scenarios; the responses to different levels of forcing are nonlinear, may be positive or negative, and vary in magnitude across the different SSPs, particularly in the short term. In spring, the largest reductions in precipitation (>30% by 2090) occur in the central and northern areas of the Pacific coasts (Colima, Jalisco, Nayarit, Sonora, and Michoacán) and the

smallest reductions occur in the Yucatán peninsula and the southeast. In contrast, the largest reductions in summer precipitation occur in the Yucatan Peninsula and most of southeastern Mexico while the smallest reductions occur in the north. In places like Yucatan, Campeche, and Quintana Roo, precipitation reduction would be in the vicinity of 50% in the SSP585 scenario. Reductions in winter precipitation would be greater in the central Pacific coastal zone (Colima, Jalisco, Michoacán, and Nayarit) with magnitudes of at least 20% in the short term and 40% in the long term.

Note that th"se r'sults are purely indicative as there are important differences between the projections produced by different climate models, particularly in terms of precipitation and at small geographical scales (see **Figures 6** and **7**).

In contrast, in a GHG emissions scenario aligned with the Paris Agreement (SSP126), the rise in temperature could be as low as 2°C for the entire century and for all states in the country. This scenario would also limit annual precipitation variations.

Even GHG scenarios involving intermediate international mitigation efforts, such as strict compliance with current NDCs (similar to SSP245), could restrict increases in statewide annual average temperature to less than 3°C this century.

Over the short term, temperature increases in fall and winter are slightly lower than in summer and spring. The lowest temperature increases occur in the winter period where projections do not exceed 5°C (1.6°C) in the SSP858 scenario (SSP126). The general pattern of statewide warming is very similar in all seasons and emission scenarios. In general, northern states show the highest levels of rising temperature (Coahuila, Chihuahua, Sonora, Durango), although in summer Chiapas and Tabasco are among the top 5 states The states exhibiting the least warming in all seasons of the year are typically those in the Yucatan and the Baja California peninsulas (except in winter).

The average of all the ensemble simulations in the CMIP6 suggests that precipitation could rise in most of the country in low-emission scenarios at least until the middle of the century. In particular, in scenario SSP126, 23 of the 32 states would have slight increases in precipitation through 2050.



Figure 6. Changes in mean annual temperature for 2050 and 2090.

26

The charts present the median ensemble simulations in the CMIP6 and four emissions scenarios (SSP126, SSP245, SSP370, SSP5885) for each state. The panels show changes in mean air temperature (°C) for 2041-2060 (<u>left</u>) and 2081-2100 (<u>right</u>). All changes are shown with respect to the reference period 1986-2005.

Source: Estrada, F., et al 2023.

Precipitation patterns are expected to become more extreme this century, particularly in scenarios involving higher GHG emissions.

Precipitation patterns in most states would change significantly with longer dry periods and increases in precipitation on the wettest day of the year. Ensemble average simulations from the CMIP5 models indicates that virtually every state in the country would have a larger number of consecutive dry days (CDD) in any of the GHG emission scenarios analyzed as compared to 1970-2000. In particular under the RCP8.5 GHG scenario consecutive dry days could increase by more than 10 and 21 days per year by 2050 and 2090, respectively, in states such as Baja California Sur and Colima. States such as Durango, Guerrero, Jalisco, Michoacán, Nayarit, Sinaloa, and Sonora could experience more than 7 additional consecutive dry days per year by 2050 and more than two additional weeks by the end of the century. For most states and GHG emissions scenarios, a reduction

in the number of days with extreme precipitation (R10mm) and an increase in the precipitation on the wettest day of the year (Rx1day) are projected, suggesting a lower number of extreme precipitation events per year, but higher in intensity. In general, simulations indicate that Mexico will have to deal with a hotter, drier climate with higher frequency and intensity of extreme temperature events and higher intensity of extreme precipitation events.

Figure 7. Changes in annual precipitation by 2050 and 2090.



The panels show the changes in annual precipitation (%) projected for 2041-2060 (left) and 2081-2100 (right). All changes are shown with respect to the reference period 1986-2005.

Source: Estrada, F., et al 2023.

Extreme temperature events are projected to increase in intensity during this century even in the most ambitious international GHG mitigation scenarios and particularly in high-emission scenarios. During this century and under all GHG emissions scenarios, the maximum temperature of the hottest day of the year (TXx) is expected to over the entire country with respect to the 1970-2000 reference period. In emissions scenario RCP2.6, the statewide average rise in TXx would be 1.8°C, and one fifth of the states would experience increases greater than 2.0°C (e.g., Chihuahua, Guanajuato, San Luis Potosi, San Luis Potosi). By the end of the century, the statewide average increase would remain at about 1.7°C. In contrast, there would be a statewide TXx rise of at least 2.0°C by 2050, with 7 states surpassing 3°C. By 2100, the average statewide TXx rise would be 5.3°C with 7 states having increases close to or above 6°C.

The most optimistic international GHG mitigation scenarios in which Paris Agreement goals are met provide a first estimate of the minimum temporal and geographical requirements needed for different human and natural systems.

Particular mitigation efforts cannot avoid residual risks and impacts requiring adaptation and risk reduction strategies. Climate change projections based on progressively ambitious mitigation efforts can help formulate minimum adaptation and risk reduction requirements for different time horizons, geographical adaptation and for different human and natural systems.

Even less ambitious international mitigation efforts may reduce some of the risks of climate change to the country and provide time for adaptation.

The projected dates for crossing risk thresholds may be delayed, thereby allowing more time for the implementation of adaptation measures. This is the case of the Nationally Determined Contributions (NDCs) currently negotiated with most countries. Although current NDCs are insufficient to limit global temperature increase to below 2°C by the end of the century, they would make it possible to reduce/delay risk threshold crossing date.

For instance, going from a very high GHG emissions and inaction scenario (RCP8.5) to an emission scenario consistent with e current NDC (RCP4.5) would result in an average delay of 15 (12 to 26) years in the time that individual states would take to observe increases of more than 2°C with respect to the reference period 1986-2005. Moreover, this international mitigation effort would delay the reduction threshold crossing date by at least 10% (about 15-20 years) in many states and in certain cases it would even prevent crossing the threshold during this century (see **Figure 8**).



Figure 8. Risk threshold crossing dates in two emission scenarios.

The panel on the left shows the estimated dates for surpassing mean annual air temperature by $2^{\circ}C$ in a very high emission scenario (RCP585) and a scenario strictly aligned with current NDCs (RCP245).

The panel on the right shows the estimated dates for surpassing annual drops in precipitation by more than 10% in a very high emission scenario (RCP585) and a scenario strictly aligned with current NDCs (RCP245).

Source: Estrada, F., et al 2023.

30 State and Perspectives of Climate Change in Mexico a Starting Point

The information presented in this section was taken from the following reports:

Estrada, F., Calderón-Bustamante, O., Raga G., Altamirano del Carmen, M.A., Torres, V., Zavala-Hidalgo, J., 2023. Análisis del cambio climático observado y proyectado para México. In: Estado y perspectivas del cambio climático en México. Un punto de partida. Reporte técnico, Programa de Investigación en Cambio Climático, UNAM.

https://cambioclimatico.unam.mx/wp-content/uploads/2023/10/cambio-climatico-en-mexico-analisis-observado-y-proyectado.pdf

López-Espinoza E.D., Gómez-Ramos O., Zarza Alvarado M.A., Zavala-Hidalgo J., Osorio-Tai M.E., 2023. El cambio en el nivel medio del mar en las costas mexicanas. In: *Estado y perspectivas del cambio climático en México. Un punto de partida*. Reporte técnico. Programa de Investigación en Cambio Climático, UNAM.

https://cambioclimatico.unam.mx/wp-content/uploads/2023/10/cambio-climatico-en-mexico-nivel-medio-del-mar-en-lascostas-mexicanas.pdf

Ortiz Haro, G.A., Gress Carrasco, F., Mazari Hiriart, M., 2023. Recursos hídricos y cambio climático: una visión desde México. In: *Estado y perspectivas del cambio climático en México. Un punto de partida*. Reporte técnico, Programa de Investigación en Cambio Climático, UNAM.

https://cambioclimatico.unam.mx/wp-content/uploads/2023/10/cambio-climatico-en-mexico-impactos-recursos-hidricos.pdf

Use the following QR code to access further information concerning the database, methodology, and additional results:



Impacts on Human and Natural Systems in Mexico: Diagnosis and Projections

The consequences of climate change are profound and multidimensional and extremely heterogeneous in terms of spatial distribution and within and between social groups, sectors, and natural systems.

The impacts of climate change are characterized by their uncertainty, by their exacerbating of certain concurrent socio-environmental problems and inequities, by their being persistent and even irreversible, in addition to the existence of critical points that may dramatically modify the behavior of the climate system itself or the systems it affects. This section summarizes the state of research in different sectors and the main effects associated with climate change that have already been observed, as well as those projected for the rest of the century.

Agriculture

The following is an overview of research on agriculture and climate change in Mexico, highlighting the principal topics and existing outcomes. The main challenges, opportunities, and gaps information are identified with the aim of directing future scientific research and of sharing results with decision makers. Several significant impacts of climate change on the Mexican agricultural sector have already been observed and projected. However, few crops have been analyzed and a geographic bias focuses only on certain areas of the country.

Research on agriculture and climate change in Mexico focuses on a limited diversity of crops and is geographically biased towards certain areas of the country.

A systematic review of scientific literature found ninety-six articles published between 1990 and 2022 on the topic of agriculture and climate change in Mexico. Most of these are regional and nationwide studies on corn, followed by studies on coffee, beans, and wheat. On a subnational level, the most commonly analyzed states are Veracruz, Puebla, Jalisco, and Tlaxcala (see **Figure 9**). 16.7% of the publications analyze the relationship between climatic variables, such as the duration of dry and rainy seasons, maximum and minimum temperatures, evapotranspiration, aridity or days of growth and flowering. The crops most frequently studied were corn and coffee (36.7%) followed by rye and apples (12.5%). This type of study was done primarily by state; those most looked at were Sonora, Veracruz, Sinaloa, Jalisco, and Chihuahua. The main results show how climatic variability negatively impacts crops and underscore the need to modify seeding patterns in response to changes in start-date in and of the length of rainy seasons⁴⁻⁶.

A high percentage of climate change and agriculture studies in Mexico concentrate on estimating future impacts on crops that are national interest A much smaller number of studies focus on historical impacts and climate impacts.

Most of the literature on agriculture and climate change in Mexico focuses on estimating future impacts (39.8%). In contrast, 16.7% of the publications concentrate on the analysis of the relationship between phenological aspects of crops and climatic variables, such as the duration of the dry or rainy seasons, maximum and minimum temperatures, or evapotranspiration. The crops most commonly appearing in this type of analysis are corn and coffee (36.7% each) followed by rye and apples (12.5%). An even smaller proportion of the literature deals with aspects like droughts, floods, frosts, or extreme events that occurred in the past. These include studies analyzing the influence of the *El Niño-Southern Oscillation* on corn and beans⁷ and the effects of drought on sugarcane production⁸.

Figure 9. Typology of the literature review, geographic level of study and most common crops appearing in studies of climate change and its impacts on agriculture in the country.



Percentages refer to thenumber of studies devoted to each topic.

Source: Mendoza-Ponce A., 2023

A variety of significant climate change impacts on the Mexican agricultural sector have already been observed and are projected to become more pronounced over the course of the century.

Available studies in general project a reduction in agricultural production towards the end of the century due to variations in average and minimum/maximum values of climatic variables. Climate change is expected to lead to possible expansion or intensification of agriculture with negative effects on ecosystems and water and soil resources in addition to an increase in agri-food dependence and greater exposure to variability in international price.

In a very high emissions scenario, climate change could severely reduce the country's agricultural yields, particularly those of rainfed production.

There are few studies that analyze the impacts of climate change on different crops and management practices. A recent study forecasts a sharp drop in corn, wheat, sorghum, rice, and soybean yields⁹. By the end of the century, nationwide yield reductions in soybean and rice could be greater than 50%, while those in corn and sorghum yields could exceed 40%, and wheat yields 20%. There is a great deal of uncertainty in the projections for surgarcane made by different biophysical models and depend on the assumptions made about CO_2 fertilization. However, one of the most widely used biophysical models suggests reductions of up to 11% by the end of the century. These six crops represent 65% of the cultivated area in Mexico and have the highest consumption. This scenario implies yield reductions of between 5% and 20% for these crops, over the next two decades and up to 80% by the end of the century for some crops and in some states states.

Observed and potential impacts of climate change on corn are negative. Yields are projected to drop by up to 80% in some areas of the country along with a decrease of between 3.0% and 18.0% in climatic suitability.

The first reported studies about corn and climate change in Mexico suggested that, given a 2.0°C increase and a 20% reduction in precipitation, the area suitable for growing corn would be reduced by 18.0%¹⁰. However, later projections¹¹ using physical climate models suggested reductions of only 3.0% to 4.3%. More recent studies based on the RCP8.5 climate change scenario projected national rainfed corn yield reductions of 10%¹², regional drops of as high as 80%, 81.6%, 84%, and statewide drops of up to 80%^{9,13-15}. The states most suited to rainfed corn production (Jalisco, Mexico, Nayarit, Morelos, Michoacán, Guerrero, and Colima) could lose between 30% and 40% of their yields by the end of the century. Currently, twenty-three states have rainfed corn production yields above one ton per hectare, but only eleven of them will still be producing at least one ton per hectare by the end of the century. Other estimates based on absolute yields suggest drops of between 0.25 to 0.5 t/ha¹⁶. Water availability and the duration of the dry season are important factors, especially for rainfed corn, mainly in the northeast and south of the country^{13,15}. These zones are also reported to have the greatest reductions (up to 5.5%) in climatic suitability for this crop¹⁷.

Observed and potential impacts of climate change on coffee are negative. Current records show yield reductions of 42.5% and 23.4% from 2010 to 2020 for irrigated and rainfed coffee, respectively.

Studies on coffee production and climate change in Mexico date back to 2006¹⁸, when a 34% drop in production was projected for Veracruz by 2020 due to climate change. The observed reduction has actually been greater, with a drop of 36.7%19 from 2010 to 2020. This reduction attributed to several factors. First, a reduction in the harvested area of both crops such as; a 48.6% decrease in irrigated area. And secondly, there was also a yield reduction of 42.5% in rainfed and 23.4% in irrigated crops¹⁹ between 2010 and 2020. The climatic and socio-environmental causes of these changes need to be analyzed.

By mid-century, yields of rainfed wheat and irrigated wheat could be reduced by up to 23.3% and 20.0%, respectively. These impacts could be mitigated through the cultivation of new varieties more resistant to extreme weather conditions.

The analysis of wheat in Mexico is relevant because, even though the country imports most of its wheat (~65%), new varieties and technologies developed by the International Maize and Wheat Improvement Center²⁰ (CIMMYT) have been introduced into the country. These developments mean that Mexico has higher yields than the global average²¹. There are studies that suggest that, under climate change scenario RCP8.5, 2050 yields would fall by ~15% for rainfed wheat and ~7.5% for irrigated wheat^{15,22}. Other projections suggest that, by the end of the century, the figures could drop as low as 23.3% and 20.0% for rainfed and irrigated crops, respectively⁹.

Variations in temperature and precipitation negatively impact bean production in Mexico; however, there are varieties that have shown better adaptation to dry and hot climates.

Beans could suffer yield reductions of 10% to 40% due to higher temperatures and reduced precipitation¹⁵. However, it has been shown that species of the genus *Phaseolus* such as *P. filiformis*, *P. purpusii*, and *P. maculatus* have adapted better to drier climates²³.

The information presented in this section was taken from the following report:

Mendoza-Ponce A., Ortiz Haro G.A., Murray-Tortarolo G.N., Salazar Frausto, J.L., 2023. Agricultura y cambio climático en México. In: *Estado y perspectivas del cambio climático en México. Un punto de partida*. Reporte técnico, Programa de Investigación en Cambio Climático, UNAM.

https://cambioclimatico.unam.mx/wp-content/uploads/2023/10/cambio-climatico-en-mexico-impactos-agricultura.pdf

Use the following QR code to access further information concerning the database, methodology, and additional results:



36 State and Perspectives of Climate Change in Mexico a Starting Point

Biodiversity

There is ample evidence of the global impacts of contemporary climate change on biodiversity²⁴⁻²⁷. Moreover, evidence of disturbances to biological and ecological processes at different scales of organization from genetic to ecosystem levels²⁵ has been found. Climate change will exacerbate the effect of other anthropogenic factors that already threaten species and ecosystems, such as habitat loss, invasive species, pollution, pathogen outbreaks, among others^{28,29}. However, most of the evidence of the impacts is concentrated on species and ecosystems in temperate regions of countries in the Global North^{24,25,25,30,31}, and there is very little information on the impacts on tropical and subtropical species and ecosystems. Mexico is recognized for its high diversity of species and endemism due to its llocationed in a biogeographic transition zone between Nearctic and Neotropical regions. This heterogeneity makes it particularly vulnerable to climate change and priority must be given to understanding how climate change affects and could affect biodiversity and how the combination of ecological traits and evolutionary history could help to understand how species respond to changes in climatic regimes. Current available information concerning the impacts of contemporary climate change on biodiversity is rather poor and disperse³². This section presents some of the main results on ecosystems for which specific studies have been done.

Impacts Observed in Mexican Ecosystems

There have been drastic reductions in hard coral cover in the Mexican Caribbean since the 1970s due to the effects of climate change and natural climate variability events.

In the coastal and marine systems of the Mexican Caribbean, the amount of hard coral has decreased drastically since the 1970s: from 50% of the reef floor to the current 10%. Coral bleaching events were reported during El Niño in 1997-1998³³. These events resulted in a loss of more than 90% of the coral surface area along the coasts of Oaxaca and Jalisco. However, coral reefs along the Mexican Pacific coast have recovered from these mortality events, showing a high degree of resilience, and are now considered to be thermally stable³⁴. This resilience is expected to drop off with more frequent oceanic heat waves and shorter periods without thermal stress. No mass mortality events were identified following a bleaching event in Mexico and the Caribbean Sea³⁵, and no severe coral cover variations have been identified in the Mexican Pacific and other regions of the planet³⁶. However, it is expected that the Mexican Caribbean will experience important increases in thermal stress and heat waves^{37,38}.
Little is known about the effects of climate change on mangroves, dunes, and seagrasses despite their importance in mitigating impacts of extreme events and the implementation of ecosystem-based adaptation strategies.

These ecosystems are very important for regulation and protection from the impacts of extreme events such as tropical cyclones³⁹⁻⁴¹. Research on the effects of climate change on them is a priority, as is undertaking restoration and conservation actions in the context of Ecosystem-based Adaptation strategies⁴².

There is limited evidence concerning the impacts of climate change on terrestrial species. However, local extinctions and a variety of negative effects associated with this phenomenon have been documented.

There is evidence of local extinctions of at least 12% of the populations of forty-eight species of lizards of the genus *Sceloporus* due to increases in maximum and minimum temperatures⁴³ as shown in Figure 10, in addition , there are declining populations of forest species such as oaks and conifers⁴⁴. There is evidence of changes in the species composition of birds in some regions of the country in the twentieth century⁴⁵. In particular, desert areas (e.g., Chihuahua, Sonora, northern Baja California) and the Usumacinta River basin are reported as areas with the highest extinction rates and species turnover⁴⁵.

Altitudinal migrations of different vegetation types have been documented in the context of observed climate change.

Recently, remote sensors have been used to assess whether tree line altitudinal limits in mountainous regions of Mexico changed between 1985 and 2018. Altitudinal migrations of at least 500m were documented in forests and grasslands surrounding fifteen volcanoes in central Mexico over a period of three decades⁴⁶.

Projected Future Impacts on Biodiversity

Several studies based on correlative and ecological niche models show potential reductions in species distribution areas throughout the country.

Some regions may be more susceptible to gains and losses in the distribution of endemic species. Local extinctions and reductions of up to 50% of the current distribution areas are projected for several taxonomic groups, mainly terrestrial vertebrates⁴⁷⁻⁵³.

Climate change impacts vary between taxonomic groups are geographically heterogeneous, and exacerbate existing socio-environmental pressures.

For the cases of birds and amphibians, threatened and ecologically -restricted species will suffer more negative impacts under future climate change scenarios^{50,54}. The largest amphibian species losses are projected in the southern Gulf of Mexico and the Yucatan Peninsula⁴⁸. Similarly, certain studies project drastic reductions of more than 60% of pine species habitats in Mexico⁵⁵.

A major limitation of ecological niche models and future projections is that they have failed to incorporate the uncertainty associated with climate models and GHG emission scenarios appropriately.

Available studies have neither incorporated the uncertainty associated with climate models and emissions scenarios appropriately nor between ecological models⁵⁶⁻⁶⁰. Most of these studies have only used a small set of climate models and emissions scenarios. This limitation may hinder the incorporation of such results in decision making and in the generation of public policies aimed at protecting biodiversity from the impacts of climate change.

Figure 10. Locations where the extinction of local lizard species populations of the genus *Sceloporus* have been reported and are attributable to increases in temperature over the last century.



Source: Grupo de Investigación e Incidencia en la Biología de Cambio Climático (Research and Incidencia in the Biology of Climate Change Group: InBioCC, 2023).

The information presented in this section was taken from the following report:

Grupo de Investigación e Incidencia en la Biología del Cambio Climático (InBioCC): Aguirre-Liguori, Jonas A.; Álvarez-Filip, Lorenzo; Búrquez-Montijo, Alberto; Correa-Metrio, Alex; Domínguez, Omar7; Escobedo-Galván, Armando H.; Garrido-Garduño, Tania; Gómez-Ruiz, Pilar Angélica; Jiménez-García, Daniel; Lara-Resendiz, Rafael; Luna-Aranguré, Carlos; Martínez-Meyer, Enrique; Mendoza-González, Gabriela; Nava-Bolaños, Angela; Ochoa-Ochoa, Leticia M.; Prieto-Torres, David A.; Ramírez-Barahona, Santiago; Sáenz-Romero, Cuauhtémoc; Velasco, Julián A. 2023. Estado del cambio climático en México: Biodiversidad. In: Estado y perspectivas del cambio climático en México. Un punto de partida. Reporte técnico, Programa de Investigación en Cambio Climático, UNAM.

https://cambioclimatico.unam.mx/wp-content/uploads/2023/10/cambio-climatico-en-mexico-impactos-biodiversidad.pdf

Use the following QR code to access further information concerning the database, methodology, and additional results:



Water Resources

Climate change, coupled with the growing demand for water resources caused by population growth, environmental degradation, and unprecedented demand for natural resources, are major challenges for the water sector in Mexico. An insufficient supply of high-quality water, in addition to poor wastewater management, are socio-environmental problems of great relevance today that are aggravated by climate changes^{61,62}. These changes are characterized by not being uniform in space or time and by high levels of uncertainty, all of which exacerbate the complexity of water planning and management. The World Economic Forum (WEF) predicts that water crises, the spread of infectious diseases, the inability to adapt to climate change, and the loss of biodiversity over the next decade will comprise the most significant social impacts with interconnected long-term effects worldwide⁶³.

Research on water resources and climate change in Mexico is disperse, concentrated in specific regions, and comprises a high proportion of gray literature that is not very up to date.

Sixty-two documents from the literature published between 1980 and 2022 were systematically compiled and analyzed. Of these, 79% are scientific articles and 21% are classified as gray literature. The largest number of studies are concentrated in the northwest (23%) and central regions of the country with more than half of the studies conducted at basin or hydrological regional scale. In general, these studies focus on large agricultural and urban territories, particularly on the risks associated with changes in water availability in urban areas and the overexploitation of aquifers due to intensive irrigation in arid zones. Approximately a quarter of the studies are concerned with climate change projections and their potential effects on water availability, water balance, runoff, infiltration, and recharge. Another quarter focus on integrated watershed management, risk management, and the perspectives for water resources evolution in the context of climate change. About 11% of the literature addresses water resource vulnerability, hydrological risks, vulnerability, and the security of water and water supply sources.

Natural water availability has dropped off due to changes in precipitation and droughts caused by climate change. Significant impacts are expected on various components of the hydrological cycle in the country.

In Mexico, 451.585 billion m3 of water are used annually, of which 61% is obtained from surface water systems and 39% from groundwater. Concessionaries are largest for agriculture (59%), public supply (27.5%), and self-supplied industry (13.5%)^{64,65}. A sudden increase in the depletion of groundwater systems and a reduction in their availability has been reported with growth from 178 unavailable aquifers in 2011 to 275 in 2020; this has implications for water availability in urban areas such as Monterrey,

Tijuana, Guadalajara, and Mexico City, among others (see **Figure 11**). About 42% of the aquifers are reported as having compromised availability and 58% of the groundwater is extracted from 101 overexploited aquifers^{66,67}. According to climate change projections (see the first section of this report), water scarcity is expected to affect the north and center of the country, while the south and southeast could be affected by excess water. In large urban areas such as Mexico City, there is already significant vulnerability to water scarcity, flooding, and water-borne diseases⁶⁸⁻⁷⁰.

Water demand has grown in recent years and will continue to increase under different climate change scenarios, variations in land use, and population growth.

Mexico's population has nearly quintupled since the mid-twentieth century and is projected to reach 138 million by 2030. There are currently 35 cities in the country with more than 500,000 inhabitants, putting enormous demand pressure on water supply services. This poses great challenges in the context of climate change because more than 75% of the urban population was located in areas of low water availability and high water stress at the beginning of this century⁷¹⁻⁷³. 75% of the urban population was located in areas of low water availability and high water stress at the beginning of this century⁷¹⁻⁷³.

42 State and Perspectives of Climate Change in Mexico a Starting Point



Figure 11. Aquifers with no availability from 2011 to 2020.

Source: Ortiz Haro, G.A., et al 2023; CONAGUA (2020). Disponibilidad de los acuíferos en https//sina.conoagua.gob. mx; INEGI (2019). Marco geoestadístico nacional en https://ingi.org.mx/temas

Climate change is expected to have serious effects on various components of the hydrological cycle in different regions of the country.

Observed droughts have become more frequent and severe. These effects of climate change will become more critical and will impact different segments of society. Negative impacts on the country's water systems are expected under scenarios of medium and high GHG emissions. Variations in the spatial and seasonal patterns of precipitation are projected with longer dry periods and increases in annual precipitation caused by extreme events^{69,72}. Total precipitation in certain regions (mainly in the north and center) could undergo significant decreases in water availability, average annual runoff, infiltration volumes, and aquifer recharge⁷⁴. According to projections, the impacts become more critical due to increases in temperature and evapotranspiration. The Mexico City metropolitan area could be affected by a drop in annual precipitation of 5% by 2020 in the Cutzamala System^{69,70}. Negative impacts on river flow are expected in the north of the country with a runoff reduction of up to 60% in the long term⁷⁴.

Climate change is expected to have a significant negative impact on water availability and, consequently, on agricultural production, thereby posing a high risk to national food security.

Agricultural production is 25% irrigated and 75% rainfed with the former contributing 40% of the value of total national production⁷⁵. Nationwide, drought has already brought about significant crises in corn and bean production, in which several drought events between 1940 and 1987 affected the whole territory, particularly states in the north⁷⁶.

Water quality in most of the surface aquatic ecosystems is poor and the rise in temperature and drecrease in precipitation will exacerbate this problem.

Currently, more than 90% of Mexico's population inhabit hydrological regions with pollution problems. Contamination of water bodies by wastewater discharges brings about a drop in system availability. Very little research has been done on how climate change impacts water quality; however, water source affectation could be intensified by higher temperatures and their effect on the physiochemical and microbiological characteristics of water^{73,77,78}.

In response to temperature increase, there has been a rise in algae and sargassum due to eutrophication of the country's bodies of water and seas.

The presence of potentially toxic algae (i.e., cyanobacteria) in freshwater systems along with an increase in eutrophication (nutrient enrichment) will result in reduced availability of water supply sources as well as the alteration of natural and artificial systems (i.e., dams). Higher temperatures and evapotranspiration, combined with lower rainfall, lead to eutrophication with deleterious effects on aquatic ecosystem biodiversity. The upsurge of the pelagic macroalga *Sargassum* spp. in coastal areas has affected the northern coast of the Mexican Caribbean since 2011. These are regional and local events that respond to various factors such as nutrient enrichment, rising temperatures, and weather pattern variations, in addition to causes as yet unknown. The impact of tons of sargassum has implications for ecosystem functioning and biodiversity, as well as socioeconomic impacts on fisheries, tourism activities, and local social disruption that may cause health issues.

Infrastructure problems, resource mismanagement or inefficient resource management, and lack of infrastructure make the challenges of climate change more critical.

Much of the water distribution infrastructure is in poor condition and has not been modernized. Deficiencies persist in the operation and maintenance of water distribution systems and sanitation infrastructure. It is estimated that as little as 20% of wastewater is treated, which has environmental effects in terms of greenhouse gas emissions⁷⁹. Vulnerability of the infrastructure is high due to

its poor condition, which results in lower capacity and exposure to damage by third parties; climate change will exacerbate this vulnerability. Lower precipitation will bring about a decrease in the availability of water from surface sources, in addition to affecting the recharge of the aquifers that feed distribution systems. High imperviousness in large cities aggravates the hydrological effects as there is increased runoff followed by a reduction in water recharge. Rising temperatures and the increasing frequency and intensity of heat wave events will increase the demand for water, which could lead to regional, national, and international, social conflicts⁸⁰.

The information presented in this section was taken from the following report:

Ortiz Haro, G.A., Gress Carrasco, F., Mazari Hiriart, M., 2023. Recursos hídricos y cambio climático: una visión desde México. In: *Estado y perspectivas del cambio climático en México. Un punto de partida*. Reporte técnico, Programa de Investigación en Cambio Climático, UNAM.

https://cambioclimatico.unam.mx/wp-content/uploads/2023/10/cambio-climatico-en-mexico-impactos-recursos-hidricos.pdf

Use the following QR code to access further information concerning the database, methodology, and additional results:



Human Health

Anthropogenic climate change is recognized as a threat to human health. Impacts may be direct, mainly in response to changes in the frequency of extreme weather events⁸¹ (e.g., heat waves, droughts) or they may be indirect, mediated by the effect on natural systems that alters the life cycle dynamics of a particular pathogen⁸². There are also diseases of zoonotic origin, which are naturally transmissible between vertebrate/invertebrate animals and humans. These diseases involve a wide range of pathogens, including viruses, bacteria, fungi, protozoa, and helminths⁸³⁻⁸⁵. About 70% of infectious diseases affecting humans worldwide originated from pathogens in wild or domestic animals (zoonotic pathogens)^{86,87}. Climate change can modify the dynamics of zoonotic diseases in different ways, thereby altering the pathogen's development cycle and bringing about changes in the population and phenological distribution of vectors and hosts.

Despite the relevance of the topic, studies on climate change and health in Mexico are scarce and produced by a small number of institutions. There are large information gaps.

A review of the literature on health and climate change and variability published between 2000 and 2022 produced a total of 192 research articles. The National Institute of Public Health (INSP), the National Autonomous University of Mexico (UNAM), and the National Polytechnic Institute (IPN) are responsible for more than 50% of these papers, while the participation of other academic institutions and federal and state health agencies is limited. With regard to the direct effects of climate and weather conditions, the literature in Mexico has focused on lower respiratory events, cardiovascular disease, kidney disease, suicide, food systems, all-cause mortality, and death by scorpion bites.. An exhaustive literature review of nine viral, parasitic, and bacterial diseases of importance in the country associated with climate change identified major information gaps (see Figure 12). Most research on zoonotic diseases and climate change has been conducted on the observed impacts of dengue and how they are related to temperature and precipitation. Except in the case of dengue and the El Niño-Southern Oscillation, there are no studies on the effects of extreme events and climate variability on these diseases. Most climate change and zoonotic disease studies have been conducted at the state level and, largely on the mosquito as a vector of dengue fever. The disease research imbalance generates information gaps on many topics that should be prioritized for risk assessments of the emergence and reemergence of the different zoonoses. In general, there are few studies on the future impacts of climate change in the sector.

Changes in infection prevalence may be associated with changes in temperature and/or precipitation. Most of this evidence in Mexico focuses on vector-borne zoonotic diseases (VBDs).

Climate variability is closely related to the incidence of dengue, mainly due to increases in temperature and precipitation^{88,89}, with the highest incidences observed during the rainy season (June-October)^{89,90}. Similarly, Chagas disease has a clear seasonality with the highest incidences of cases occurring in spring and summer⁹¹. A positive relationship between the highest incidences of leptospirosis (a bacterial disease) and the rainy season in Yucatan has been reported⁹². The close relationship between the seasons and the incidence of clinical cases is indicative of the potential for temporal change that may occur due to variations in temperature and precipitation brought about by climate change.

Dengue. In Mexico, it has been documented that climate variability is closely related to the incidence of dengue, mainly due to increases in temperature, humidity and precipitation^{88,89,93-99}. The highest incidences of dengue are observed during the rainy season (June-October)^{89,90} and have been associated with the El Niño-Southern Oscillation phenomenon^{88,89,100}. Furthermore, an inverse relationship has been established with altitude¹⁰¹⁻¹⁰⁷. Ecological niche models suggest that conditions conducive to vector development are related to the minimum temperature of the coldest month, precipitation of the rainiest month, and precipitation seasonality¹⁰⁶.

Malaria. A negative association has been observed between the presence of *Anopheles albimanus* (which transmits malaria) and altitude¹⁰⁸. Furthermore, the intensity of malaria transmission in Oaxaca has been associated with tropical climate areas with summer rains and low evaporation¹⁰⁹.

Chagas disease. The area of distribution of *Triatoma recurva*, a Chagas disease vector, is determined by temperature and precipitation conditions during the year as well as geographical factors such as altitude¹¹⁰⁻¹¹³. However, several species of triatomines (vectors of the Chagas disease pathogen) are now being recorded in temperate zones and at higher altitudes, and individuals positive for the pathogen (*Trypanosoma cruzi*) have been recorded. This is related to landscape alterations and rising temperature in the presence of these species¹¹⁴. The disease shows a higher incidence of cases in spring and summer⁹¹. It has been observed that geo-climatic determinants influence its dispersion¹¹⁵⁻¹²⁰ and a positive association has been established between rainfall and temperature with the infestation of the vector that transmits this disease¹²¹. Furthermore, it has been observed that the spatial and seasonal patterns of triatomines and the distribution of the different species are influenced by climate and have a seasonal pattern¹¹⁶; it has even been observed that temperature increases affect the relationship between the vector and the virus¹²².

Zika. Studies have reported that temperatures during the warmest quarter of the year contribute to the risk of Zika transmission¹²³. However, it has been reported that higher temperatures decrease the vectorial capacity of mosquitoes¹²⁴.

Lyme disease. Regions at high altitudes with low temperatures have a greater potential for Lyme disease transmission¹²⁵. Moreover, maximum temperatures and precipitation largely determine the distribution of *Ixodes scapularis*: the tick that transmits the disease¹²⁶.

Leishmaniasis. This disease has been associated with temperature and precipitation¹²⁷, which suggests the ecological niche could be altered by climate change¹²⁸. It has also been reported that temperature and precipitation seasonality are key predictors of cutaneous leishmaniasis distribution, whereas temperature and mean annual temperature are the predictors of visceral leishmaniasis¹²⁹.

Leptospirosis. The incident of this bacterial disease has a positive relationship with the rainy season in Yucatan⁹². The close relationship between seasons and the incidence of clinical cases is indicative of the potential for temporal changes that may occur due to climate change.

Figure 12. Research topic frequency in the literature reviewed on climate, meteorological variables, extreme events, climate change, and causal agents of zoonotic diseases in Mexico.



The totals are not cumulative since the categories are not mutually exclusive (i.e., an article may include data on more than one topic).

Source: González-Salazar, C., et al, 2023

The pathogenic agents involved in infectious intestinal diseases are viruses, parasites, and bacteria, the best known of which are Salmonella, Shigella, Escherichia, Vibrio, Campylobacter, and Yersinia, which have been associated with high temperatures and extreme precipitation.

The highest prevalence of *Salmonella spp*. occurs in areas with temperatures between 35°C and 37°C in northwestern Mexico and rainfall greater than 1,000 mm. Territories classified as arid and xeric, with short periods of humidity, limit its prevalence and geographic distribution by presenting a low percentage of organic matter¹³⁰.

Climate change has the potential to reduce or expand the distribution of vectors, hosts, and pathogens, thereby transforming previously uninhabitable regions into favorable habitats.

The presence of the primary dengue-transmitting mosquito (*Ae. Aegypti*) has been documented at altitudes higher than its usual limits (<1,200 masl) in Xalapa, Veracruz¹³¹, and Mexico City¹³². However, these studies did not evaluate the presence of pathogens nor the possible role of favorable climate or landscape variations.

Climate change can generate changes in vector and host populations, thereby increasing their abundance, favoring shorter life cycles and/or seasonal changes in their reproductive cycles.

A positive relationship has been found between *Ae. aegypti* abundance patterns and higher rainfall in Baja California Sur and Morelos^{101,133}. The larger number of homes infested by *Triatoma dimidiata* (the *T. cruzi* vector) is positively associated with higher temperatures and more abundant precipitation¹²¹.

Climate change favors pathogen load variations caused by changes in reproduction rates, replication, or development in vectors.

Laboratory studies have documented that high temperatures accelerate the development of *Trypanosoma cruzi* in vectors¹³⁴⁻¹³⁶. However, these kinds of studies were conducted in South America and there are no field observations that assess this effect and its impact on the prevalence of pathogens in vector populations or the emergence of clinical cases.

Prospective studies on variations of vector distribution suggest an increase in areas with favorable climatic conditions and, consequently, a greater risk of contact with new human populations.

Distribution projections have been done in Mexico for the *Aedes* mosquito, which is a vector of the dengue, zika and chikungunya viruses^{137,138}, bedbugs (*Triatoma sp.*: a *T. cruzi* vector)^{114,115}, ticks (*Ixodes sp.*: a *Borrelia sp.* vector)¹²⁶, and sandflies (*Lutzomyias sp.*: a Leishmania sp. vector)^{127,128}.

Chronic diseases of the lower respiratory tract are one of the leading causes of death in Mexico and have been associated with changes in temperature as well as with exposure to ozone (O3), a short-lived climate pollutant (SLCP).

Several studies reveal a significant association between temperature and humidity conditions and these respiratory diseases. Temperatures above 33.2°C are correlated with increases in acute respiratory infections in children under the age of five¹³⁹. Furthermore, a 1°C increase in temperature reduces COVID-19 transmission by 13% and mortality by 7.5%, while a 1g/m3 increase in absolute humidity is associated with a decrease of 11.41% in mortality caused by this virus¹⁴⁰. In Mexico City, the number of confirmed daily infections is related to temperature and air inflow¹⁴¹. A positive association between O₃ exposure and cases of COVID-19 infections and deaths¹⁴² has also been documented. An increase in O₃ levels is associated with a 10% increase in respiratory symptoms in asthmatic children¹⁴³ and with respiratory deaths of children of low socioeconomic status in Mexico City¹⁴⁴.

Heart disease is the leading cause of death nationwide and has been associated with both decreasing and rising temperatures.

The increased risk of death from cardiovascular causes in metropolitan zones in Mexico is 7.1% for cold temperatures [0.01, 14.7] and 7.1% for warm [0.6, 14.0], respectively¹⁴⁵. Moreover, there is consistent evidence of a positive association between short-term exposure to O_3 with an increase in emergency department visits due to cardiovascular causes¹⁴⁶.

Recently, a rise in temperature has been considered a risk factor for kidney disease due to periods of dehydration and the metabolism of certain hormones essential for water balance.

This condition has been associated with repeated episodes of exposure to high temperatures. A kidney disease study in Mesoamerica reveals that it spreads when average annual maximum temperatures rise above 30°C and among men who work in sugarcane fields on the Pacific coast¹⁴⁷.

Seasonal fluctuations in suicide patterns have been observed that could be related to changes in social activities and exposure to variables such as temperature, humidity, and sunlight.

Although there is a significant gap in research on mental health and exposure to climate change in Mexico, an association between temperature and risks associated with mental health, such as suicide rates, has been reported¹⁴⁸. In Mexico, seasonality may increase suicide risk¹⁴⁹ with a relative risk of 1.24 [1.16,1.32]. Furthermore, days with no rain and temperatures between 30°C and 40°C are associated with incidence of suicide among men¹⁵⁰.

The incidence of scorpion bites shows a strong seasonal pattern that correlates with climatic variables.

Fewer scorpion bites have been documented¹⁵¹ at temperatures below 16°C. For every 1°C increase in temperature, cases of scorpion stings increase by 9.8% in the hotter parts of the state of Morelos¹⁵².

Exposure to sub-optimal temperatures has been associated with an increase in all-cause as well as cause-specific death.

Minimum mortality temperature (MMT) has been used as an indicator of sub-optimal temperatures. A multi-country study including Mexico suggests that the MMR varies between 14.2°C and 31.1°C and provides evidence of long-term adaptation to the local climate¹⁴⁹. Analyses conducted on metropolitan areas in Mexico have documented a non-linear relationship (inverted U or J) between short-term temperature exposure and mortality, with an all-cause mortality risk of 10.2% and 6.3% for hot and cold temperatures, respectively¹⁴⁵. Studies involving climate change scenarios are rare. However, one such study suggests an increase in heat-related mortality between 3.0% (-3.0 to 9.3) in Central America to 12.7% (-4.7 to 28.1) in Southeast Asia in the RCP8.5153 scenario¹⁵³.

A relationship has been established between precipitation and temperature and the consumption of processed foods.

In Mexico, it has been reported that, mainly in tropical regions, an annual reduction of 0.5 mm in precipitation and an annual increase of 0.1°C are associated with lower consumption of unprocessed foods and higher consumption of ultra-processed foods¹⁵⁴.

The information presented in this section was taken from the following report:

Hurtado-Díaz, M., Rangel-Moreno, K., Riojas-Rodríguez, H., 2023. Estado del arte de la investigación en salud y cambio climático en México. In: *Estado y perspectivas del cambio climático en México. Un punto de partida*. Reporte técnico, Programa de Investigación en Cambio Climático, UNAM.

https://cambioclimatico.unam.mx/wp-content/uploads/2023/10/cambio-climatico-en-mexico-salud-humana.pdf

González-Salazar, C., García Peña, G., Zarza Villanueva, H., Aguirre-Peña A., Fernández-Castel, K.P.J., Saldaña Rangel, I.E., Becker, I., Stephens, C.R., 2023. Salud: Enfermedades zoonóticas. In: *Estado y perspectivas del cambio climático en México. Un punto de partida.* Reporte técnico, Programa de Investigación en Cambio Climático, UNAM.

https://cambioclimatico.unam.mx/wp-content/uploads/2023/10/cambio-climatico-en-mexico-salud-zoonosis.pdf

Use the following QR code to access further information concerning the database, methodology, and additional results:



Socioeconomic Impacts

Climate change generates persistent and even irreversible impacts; it amplifies and adds to a variety of concurrent socio-environmental problems and inequities and may dramatically modify the behavior of the climate system itself or of systems influenced by it. The consequences of climate change for our country are profound and multidimensional with effects that are extremely uneven spatially and within and between social groups, sectors, and natural systems^{18,53,155-157}. Moreover, there are synergies and interactions between these risks and other existing socio-environmental problems that can exacerbate their consequences and restrict adaptations, thereby making them difficult to manage. Consequently, the phenomenon could significantly compromise the country's socioeconomic development and the achievement of its sustainable development goals^{3,158-162}.

This section addresses the physical impacts of the phenomenon, emphasizing those classified as chronic or gradual and not the acute impacts resulting from, for example, climatic or hydrometeorological extremes. It does not address the transition risks associated with amendments to energy or regulatory policies, nor the investment costs of achieving a world with lower climate-polluting emissions.

Aggregate economic climate change impacts in Mexico in "business-as-usual" and policy scenarios.

In a business-as-usual scenario, the economic costs of climate change for Mexico would be enormous.

In a very high GHG emissions scenario (SSP585), the cumulative costs during this century would be comparable to losing between 85% and up to five times Mexico's current GDP³. Estimates include local warming of cities due to urbanization and the persistence of climate change impacts. In this business-as-usual scenario, most of Mexico would have annual losses equal to or greater than 5% of local GDP during this century as a consequence of climate change. In large urban centers, this threshold could be crossed between 2030 and 2040.

The distribution of the economic impacts of climate change will be increasingly unequal between and within the country's different regions and states.

The impacts of climate change are the result of the interaction of multiple factors such as exposure, threat, and sensitivity, each of which has very different spatial distributions. Thus, the costs of climate change are not evenly distributed geographically, nor among different social groups, sectors, or activities.

The five states with the highest aggregate economic losses accumulated during the century are the State of Mexico, Mexico City, Jalisco, Puebla, and Morelos (see **Figure 13**). Some states could record annual losses in excess of twenty billion USD by 2050 (State of Mexico, Mexico City, Jalisco, Nuevo León, Puebla, Morelos). In a scenario of high GHG emissions and economic growth (SSP585), the average current statewide value of the impacts of climate change during this century would be close to three times urban the current GDP although some states would receive considerably greater impacts.

Figure 13. Economic impacts of climate change in Mexico.



Top panel: Estimated date by which climate change impacts would exceed 5% of GDP at each grid point. Bottom panel: Annual economic losses per state due to climate change for 2010-2100 (billions of dollars).

Source: Estrada, F., Calderón-Bustamante, O., 2023.

Large cities could be particularly affected by climate change due to a confluence of environmental problems and high exposure. A business-as-usual scenario in the near future implies large economic losses and high levels of risk for the country's large urban centers.

Globally, cities are characterized by disproportionate exposure (80% of the world's GDP and more than 50% of the world's population) and by the confluence of other socio-environmental problems; one those most likely to exacerbate the negative effects of global climate change on large cities is local climate change caused by the heat urban island phenomenon¹⁶¹. In the case of Mexico, the costs of the joint effects of global and local climate change are close to double those that only contemplate the effects of global climate change. These areas will experience large economic losses in the near future or even in the present. In the metropolitan areas of Mexico City, Guadalajara, and Monterrey, the losses caused by climate change could exceed \$1 billion USD per year in the 2020s. Areas surrounding these large urban centers could surpass this loss threshold during the 2030s and 2040s. This result underscores the need to combine international mitigation strategies with local adaptation measures¹⁶¹.

Many of the impacts projected for the next decade cannot be prevented by mitigation efforts alone. The implementation of adaptation and risk reduction strategies are effective policy instruments to counter these impacts.

Climate, social, and economic system inertia means that the climate changes projected changes for the near future are largely inevitable. International mitigation efforts alone will not succeed in reducing some of the risks and impacts of climate change no matter how significant those efforts may be. However, these impacts can be reduced through the implementation of adaptation and risk reduction strategies.

Nationally Determined Contributions (NDCs) are only a first step to combat climate change. However, compliance with them would represent a significant risk reduction for Mexico.

Compliance with NDCs would signify a reduction of about 20% of Mexico's economic losses with respect to the business-as-usual scenario. The benefits of compliance with the NDC scenario would be between 28% and 71% of current GDP. However, residual costs would be between 68% and four times current GDP. For much of Mexico, this scenario would push back the date on which the risk threshold would be crossed by two to three decades with respect to climate change-driven GDP losses of more than 5% and annual temperature increases of at least 4%.

Failure of key stakeholders to comply with the NDCs would have significant costs for the country and would make international GHG mitigation efforts less effective.

Failure of key players to comply with international mitigation agreements would imply costs for all countries. If the United States decided not to participate in the NDCs, this decision would cost Mexico in the range of 5% to 28% of current GDP. Non-compliance by China would cost Mexico in the range of 4% to 36% of current GDP.

A profound GHG emission mitigation scenario that meets Paris Agreement targets would represent important benefits for Mexico in terms of prevented losses and risk reduction.

A scenario that limits the increase in global temperature to below 2°C above its pre-industrial value would cut the economic costs of climate change for Mexico in half and stave off surpassing many of the country's critical climate thresholds. However, residual costs are considerable in even this profound mitigation scenario (between 45% and 241% of current national GDP), which underscores the need to complement mitigation policies with adaptation strategies.

Estimates of climate change impacts and risks in specific sectors.

The impacts of climate change are variable and can entail costs or benefits, in addition to risk increases or reductions, for a particular sector. In general, for the sectors analyzed, climate change implies large economic costs for most states. Even under the most ambitious policy scenarios, residual impacts could be very high.

In a business-as-usual scenario, climate change may drastically reduce Mexico's agricultural production capacity and, consequently, impose considerable socioeconomic costs on present and future generations.

For crops such as corn, sugarcane, sorghum, wheat, rice, and soybeans, a business-as-usual scenario implies yield reductions of between 5% and 20% in the next two decades and up to 80% by the end of the century for certain crops and states. The states most suited to rainfed corn production today could lose between 30% and 40% of their yields by the end of the century. The current nationwide cost of climate change in this century for corn, sugarcane, sorghum, wheat, rice, and soybeans is as high as \$38 billion dollars (see **Figure 14**), which is nearly twice the total national agricultural product in 2012. 69% of these losses came from rainfed crops, while reductions in corn yields accounted for 70% of total economic losses, approximately half of which can be attributed to Veracruz, Sinaloa, Tamaulipas, and Jalisco. 16% of the total economic losses occur in states such as Chiapas, Oaxaca, and Guerrero, which typically possess high levels of marginalization, poverty, and subsistence agriculture. Climate change will significantly increase the risks that subsistence farmers already face.

Figure 14. The current cost of climate change in scenario RCP8.5.



The current cost of climate change affecting corn, rice, wheat, sorghum, soybeans, and sugarcane, including rainfed and irrigation except for sugarcane (for which only irrigation is reported). Figures in millions of dollars.

Source: Estrada, F., Calderón-Bustamante, O., 2023.

A scenario aligned with Paris Agreement goals would significantly limit losses in most crops. In the case of corn production (rainfed and irrigated), nationwide economic losses would be reduced by 57%, while the reductions in the case of wheat and rice would be 23% and 41%, respectively.

River flood risks in Mexico are already high and are projected to increase significantly due to climate change and increased socioeconomic exposure.

Currently, the total cost of river flooding in Mexico is approximately \$7 billion dollars per year and the average state is expected to incur annual damages caused by river flooding to the tune of \$200 million dollars. Tamaulipas, Veracruz, and San Luis Potosi are the states with highest risk levels with expected annual damages of between \$400 million and \$800 million dollars. In scena-

rio RCP8.5, nationwide annual damages projected for 2080 could reach \$112 billion dollars due to alterations of socioeconomic conditions and climate change (see **Figure 15**). Compared to current climatic conditions, the states suffering the highest variations in river flood risk are located in the center of the country.

The risk of coastal flooding in Mexico will increase considerably this century due to the expected increase in exposure and the rise in sea level brought about by climate change.

Currently, projected annual damages from coastal flooding are close to \$130 million per year. Due to changes in socioeconomic conditions alone, this figure is expected to rise to \$2 billion per year by 2080. The combined effect of socioeconomic development in coastal regions and the projected rise in sea level would lead to expected damages of up to \$10 billion per year.

Rises in sea level rise will increase the risk of flooding in all coastal states nationwide. However, certain states will experience far greater impacts.

Yucatan is the state at the greatest risk of coastal flooding in the country with current projected annual damages of \$67 million which, under a climate change scenario, could increase to \$4 billion. Other states that would face significant increases in coastal flooding risk are Campeche, Sonora, and Baja California Sur as shown in **Figure 15**.

Current Cor	nstant climate (2080) 🌻 R	CP2.6 (2080) 🏾 F	CP8.5 (2080)	Current Oco	nstant climat	e (2080) 🌻 RCP2	2.6 (2080) • RCP8.	5 (2080) 🌻 SLR100 (2080
Tamaulipas Veracruz San_Luis_Potopi Sinaloa Mexico Mexico Oakua Oaxaa Guanajuato Tabasco Nayarit Chihuahua Jalisco Chihuahua Jalisco Chihuahua Jalisco Chipas Durango Puebla Baja_California Quintana,Roo Guintana,Roo Guintana,Roo			20,000,000,000	SLR150 (2080 SLR150 (2080 Vucatan Sonora Baja_California_Sur Veracruz Quintana_Roo Campeche Sinaloa Baja_California Tabaco Tamaulipas Michoacan	SLR150 (2080) 1,000.000,000 2,000,000,000 3,000,000 4,000,000 Sub0,000,000 4,000,000 4,000,000 4,000,000 4,000,000			
				Guerrero Colima Daxaca Chiapas Nayarit Jalisco Units: 2010 dollars Chart: UNAM Climat	Suerrero Solima Solimate			
Zacatecas Hidalgo Queretaro Sonora Aguascalientes Morelos Campeche Colima Tlaxcala Baia California Sur	60) 60) 60) 60) 60) 60) 60) 60)							

Figure 15. Annual river and coastal flooding damages expected per state and in different climate change scenarios.

Annual river and coastal flooding damages expected per state and under different climate change scenarios. Current: climate conditions in 2010; Constant climate: 2010 climate scenario with socioeconomic changes until 2080; RCP2.6: scenario with socioeconomic and climate changes aligned with emissions scenario RCP2.6 until 2080; SLR100: scenario with socioeconomic changes and sea level rise of 1 meter; SLR150: scenario with socioeconomic changes and sea level rise of 1.5 meters. Figures in 2010 dollars.

Source: Estrada, F., Calderón-Bustamante, O., 2023.

The information presented in this section was taken from the following reports:

Estrada, F., Calderón-Bustamante, O., 2023. Impactos económicos del cambio climático en México. In: Estado y perspectivas del cambio climático en México. Un punto de partida. Reporte técnico, Programa de Investigación en Cambio Climático, UNAM.

https://cambioclimatico.unam.mx/wp-content/uploads/2023/10/cambio-climatico-en-mexico-impactos-economicos.pdf

Use the following QR code to access further information concerning the database, methodology, and additional results:



Emissions and Mitigation Policies in Mexico

exico accounted for 1.10% of global carbon dioxide emissions in 2021, 1.19% of accumulated global emissions, and has lower per capita emissions than the global average⁵. This notwithstanding, it makes an important contribution to international mitigation measures and is the thirteenth largest GHG emitter in the world. This section analyzes Greenhouse Gas and Compound (GYCEI, initials in Spanish) emission and sink inventories in Mexico, which were generated by different studies and platforms and compares them to the official data of the National Inventory of Greenhouse Gases and Compounds (INEGYCEI, initials in Spanish). The imbalance in the literature on this topic is revealed as most scientific articles have focused solely on CO₂ emissions. The National Policy on Climate Change's main advances and achievements in mitigation after Mexico's most recent national communication are also analyzed¹⁶³.

Emissions Inventory

According to INEGYCEI data, total GYCEI emissions amounted to an average of 694,305.6 Gg CO2e per year¹.

Terrestrial ecosystems accounted for 23% of these emissions. 70% of the remaining total emissions are CO_2 , followed by CH_4 and N_2O in third place (see **Figure 16**). There are discrepancies between the values reported by INEGYCEI, specialized literature, and those derived from independent global measurement products, in addition to critical gaps in information. Discerning the nature of the discrepancies and bridging the information gap are essential for future scientific research and decision-making on GHG mitigation policies.

60 State and Perspectives of Climate Change in Mexico a Starting Point

Figure 16. Average annual balance of GYCEI emissions in Mexico from 2000 to 2019. All units are presented in Gg CO2e per year¹.



Source: Murray Tortarolo, G.N., et al 2023. Created using data from INEGYCEI 1990-2019, SEMARNAT, INECC, 2022.

The most important source of CO_2 emissions into the atmosphere is the burning of fossil fuels.

 CO_2 emissions from the burning of fossil fuels is the most studied and reported flux in the literature and there is broad agreement between estimates from different sources. This makes the reported average annual value of 460 Tg CO₂e per year¹ for the last two decades very reliable (see **Figure 17**).





The figures specified are the number of articles that report each flow.

Source: Murray Tortarolo, G.N., et al 2023.

The second most important flux is the carbon sink in the Agriculture, Forestry and Other Land Uses (AFOLU) sector. However, the discrepancies between estimates of this flux are of one order of magnitude.

INEGYCEI estimates that Mexico's ecosystems have captured an average of -165 Tg CO2e per year¹ over the last two decades (36% of carbon dioxide emissions from the burning of fossil fuels). In contrast, global product data estimate that Mexico has functioned as a small carbon sink over the past two decades with a value of only -35 Tg CO₂e per year¹, and that in certain years it becomes a carbon source. Identifying the origin of these discrepancies to have reliable estimates may well be the most

important research priority among all the GYCEI's information gaps in Mexico for proper management of national public GHG mitigation policies.

The most important CH_4 flux into the atmosphere (and the most studied) comes from the AFOLU sector, here, estimates from different sources are generally the same. The second most important flux is the burning of fossil fuels.

Eighty-two percent of CH_4 emissions come from the AFOLU sector (131-145 Tg CO_2e per year¹), particularly from livestock (70 Tg CO_2e per year¹, followed by waste decomposition (38-50 Tg CO_2e per year-1) and agricultural emissions (including rice fields, manure extraction and management; 17-21 Tg CO_2e per year¹). The fossil fuel combustion flux accounts for 18% of total emissions (28 Tg CO_2e per year¹) averaged over the last two decades. A critical lack of information on CH_4 concerns emissions from wetlands, biomass burning in stoves, and CH_4 absorption by soil.

The most important N_2 O flux is from the AFOLU sector and estimates from different sources coincide. However, there are no studies reported in s the cientific literature.

Most N_2O emissions are concentrated in the AFOLU sector. Inorganic fertilizer oxidation and the subsequent emission of this gas account for almost all emissions. Estimates from the national inventory's most recent report and from global products coincide on 30 Tg CO_2e per year¹, although this flux has not been reported in scientific publications.

$N_{y}O$ emissions from fuel combustion are a minor component of the flux, but estimates differ.

The largest discrepancies in the estimates of this compound's flux are in fossil fuel emissions: global products estimate double the inventory values associated with fossil fuels.

Although black carbon (BC) flows are smaller than the other GYCEI, their importance is highlighted in large cities because of their impact on human health.

Average BC emissions in Mexico are 76.88 Gg: fossil fuel burning is most important flux (90%), followed by the AFOLU sector (8%) and waste (2%). Information onBC comes from studies on air quality in urban areas (50%), the use of firewood as energy (19%), and transportation (13%). Forty-four percent of the studies correspond to the metropolitan areas of Mexico City, Guadalajara, and Monterrey, while 19% report estimates for the country as a whole. The information presented in this section was taken from the following reports:

Murray Tortarolo, G.N., Perea K., Mendoza, A., Jaramillo, V.J., Murguía-Flores, F., Martínez-Arroyo, M.A., García García, M.A., Vargas, R., 2023. Flujos de gases y compuestos de efecto invernadero en México en décadas recientes (2000-2019). In: *Estado y perspectivas del cambio climático en México. Un punto de partida*. Reporte técnico, Programa de Investigación en Cambio Climático, UNAM.

https://cambioclimatico.unam.mx/wp-content/uploads/2023/10/cambio-climatico-en-mexico-emisiones-flujos-gycei.pdf

Use the following QR code to access further information concerning the database, methodology, and additional results:



National Climate Change Policy on Mitigation and Adaptation

Given the complex and multidimensional nature of climate change, strategies to address it must be based on knowledge and establish institutional structures that promote cross-cutting, dynamic, flexible mechanisms for the construction, implementation, and monitoring of public policies that respond to a dynamic process. Government climate change policies are not merely management tools, but also demand interplay between knowledge of the different aspects of climate change, the actions needed to address it in different sectors of society, the formulation of regulations governing its implementation, in addition to follow-up and assessment of results and the application of corrective or complementary measures when the conditions of the phenomenon have changed or when there is better applicable knowledge.

The construction of public policies based on knowledge requires methodologies built through multidisciplinary work as well as governmental institutions specialized in the subject.

Mexico has a General Law on Climate Change (LGCC, initials in Spanish) that establishes a cross-cutting institutional framework for the issue at the federal level and has created a National Climate Change System (*Sistema Nacional de Cambio Climático*) with the nationwide participation of states, municipalities, and the Legislative Branch of government. This system includes a fit-for-purpose technical-scientific body (the National Institute of Ecology and Climate Change: INECC, initials in Spanish) which, in addition to integrating, generating, and disseminating knowledge on climate change in Mexico nationally and globally, conducts specific oversight and technical assessment of public policies on climate change through an Evaluation Coordination (EC) with the participation of experts from the academic and social sectors.

Since 2018, there have been two amendments to the General Law on Climate Change (LGCC, initials in Spanish) concerning mitigation issues. These amendments formalize the commitments acquired under the Paris Agreement (PA) and strengthen the establishment of a Mexican Emissions Trading System (ETS). However, other legal-administrative measures (such as the dissolution of the public trust allocated to the Climate Change Fund) do not provide a clear idea of the mechanisms for capturing and channeling financial resources to support climate change mitigation and adaptation actions.

The evaluation of public policies on climate change reflects the dynamic relationship between scientific knowledge and public administration.

INECC's Evaluation Coordination Unit conducted two strategic assessments of national policy and one of subnational policies. The first addressed the Special 2014-2018 Climate Change Program¹⁶⁴ (PECC, initials in Spanish) and the second the 2013-2017 cross-cutting annex of the Federal Expenditure Budget on Climate Change (AT-CC)¹⁶⁵. The PECC and the AT-CC are the most important instruments that provide federal funding for national climate change policies. However, the assessment was not on economic resources but rather the technical criteria for their design: significant inconsistencies were detected between the criteria for allocating resources for mitigation and adaptation through the AT-CC and the goals and activities set forth in National Climate Change Policy. Nor was there alignment with the PECC. Moreover, the Evaluation Coordination evaluated sub-national mitigation measures and integrated the attributions of the three levels of government in selected topics (electric power generation, land transportation, and urban solid waste management)¹⁶⁴. These evaluations generated fundamental materials for research projects that would help find solutions to some technical, economic, and socio-environmental problems, among others.

Identifying limitations, correcting, and monitoring policy implementation in a systematic fashion can be as important as the scientific formulation of the measures themselves.

The EC also developed National Climate Change Policy evaluation indicators to identify elements measuring policy progress on this matter¹⁶⁶. Here it is worth highlighting the participation of the EC's social advisors from academia or the private sector alongside scientific and technical personnel from the governmental sector. However, greater transparency and access to information is needed to foster larger participation of social scientists in these tasks.

Academic evaluation of Mexico's compliance with its Nationally Determined Contribution is not systematized and displays information transparency discrepancies.

While official information presents data suggesting that Mexico is on the right path to complying with its NDC, more in-dept sector-by-sector analysis may suggest more ambitious goals. For instance, as shown in Figure 18, although electricity generation decreased by around two MtCO₂e in 2020 as compared to 2013, this value is higher than the prospective emissions of approximately the 63 MtCO₂e and 47 MtCO₂e specified by SENER in its Annual Report on GHG Mitigation Potential in the Electricity Sector¹⁶⁷ for 2020 and 2030, respectively.

66



Figure 18. Evolution of GYCEI emissions in 2013-2020 and NDC baseline updated in 2013 and 2020.

Source: Islas Samperio, J.M. Carrasco González, F., 2023.

On the other hand, at least ten studies published between 2008 and 2020 suggested that under certain technical, economic, and financial conditions it is possible to double Mexico's unconditional NDC to achieve an annual mitigation of between 424 MtCO₂e and 490 MtCO₂e by 2030.

The information presented in this section was taken from the following reports:

Islas Samperio, J.M, Carrasco González, F., 2023. Estado del arte de la Política nacional de cambio climático en materia de mitigación. In: *Estado y perspectivas del cambio climático en México. Un punto de partida*. Reporte técnico, Programa de Investigación en Cambio Climático, UNAM.

https://cambioclimatico.unam.mx/wp-content/uploads/2023/10/cambio-climatico-en-mexico-mitigacion.pdf

Use the following QR code to access further information concerning the database, methodology, and additional results:



Digital Tools and Resources

AIRCC-Clim V2: Regional probabilistic climate change scenario generator

AIRCC-Clim is a tool for generating probabilistic climate change scenarios and risk measures². This tool's most important features are:

- Integrated model: AIRCC-Clim is a stand-alone, user-friendly software designed for a variety of applications, such as impact, vulnerability, and adaptation evaluations, and integrated evaluation modeling.
- > Graphical interface: It possesses a graphical interface that allows rapid evaluation of global and regional climate impacts in international mitigation policies through user-defined experiments.
- Scenario generation: The tool allows the generation of probabilistic regional climate change scenarios, which helps gain an understanding of possible climate change in different geographical areas.
- > Risk measures: AIRCC-Clim also provides risk measures that help quantify and evaluate the challenges associated with projected climate change.

AIRCC-Clim is a versatile tool that allows users to explore and understand the effects of climate change in different regions by generating probabilistic scenarios and evaluating risk measures. Its graphical interface and its ability to evaluate international mitigation policies make it a valuable tool for impact studies and adaptation planning.

AIRCCA: A model for estimating impacts on crop growing due to climate change

AIRCCA is a biophysical crop model emulator designed for rapid and global evaluation of agricultural production risks at specific geographical locations¹⁶⁸. Its main features are:

- > It is a tool for the evaluation of climate change impacts and risks in agriculture. It allows for a rapid and comprehensive evaluation of the effects of climate change on corn, wheat, and rice yields.
- Probabilistic impact scenario generation: AIRCCA produces probabilistic impact scenarios in specific geographical locations and user-defined risk metrics for four Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) emissions scenarios.
- > Spatial resolution and crops contemplated: The tool generates impact scenarios and risk measures for three major global crops (rainfed corn, wheat, and rice) at a spatial resolution of 0.5×0.5 degrees.

AIRCCA offers an accessible and efficient way to conduct rapid evaluations of climate change impacts and risks on agriculture globally and in specific geographic locations. The tool integrates crop emulators, probabilistic climate scenario generation, and impact and risk estimation modules, thereby enabling users to explore different metrics and compare various scenarios.

AIRCC-BioDiv: A model for the estimation of impacts on species richness

The AIRCC-BioDiv model is a tool designed to explore global risks to biodiversity under future climate change scenarios. Its main features are:

- Future projections of species diversity loss: AIRCC-BioDiv allows the generation of future projections of species richness loss for four groups of terrestrial vertebrates (amphibians, reptiles, mammals, and birds).
- A variety of climate models and emission scenarios: The software makes it possible to use a wide range of climate models available in CMIP5 and both IPCC emissions scenarios as well as user-defined ad hoc emissions scenarios.
- > Probabilistic risk metrics: Users can use a variety of probabilistic risk metrics, including estimating probabilities of surpassing certain species loss thresholds per cell; identifying dates when those thresholds are crossed; and estimating multivariate risk hotspots, i.e., sites where biodiversity losses converge for all four taxonomic groups. These metrics can be calculated on an annual frequency or for user-defined time intervals.
- > Visualization of significant climate risks: The tool enables users to visualize the regions where the most significant climate risks to terrestrial vertebrate richness are projected.

The AIRCC-BioDiv model provides a platform for exploring and evaluating the potential risks of climate change on global biodiversity. By generating projections and using different risk metrics, users can identify critical areas and moments for the loss of species in specific taxonomic groups and produce information of interest for in biodiversity conservation and management decision making.

DataPINCC: Climate change research data and resource portal

DataPINCC is a comprehensive platform that exists to provide access to climate change research relevant databases and an online system to query, view, and analyze geo-referenced data on climate and socio-economic scenarios. The portal seeks to concentrate and standardize databases, promote research on climate change, facilitate access to existing information and stimulate the exchange of information among various national and international agencies and institutions in the field. Its main features are:

- Access to databases and analysis tools: This tool provides access to relevant climate change databases thereby facilitating multidisciplinary research. It also offers an online system to query, view, and analyze geo-referenced data including climate scenarios, impacts, vulnerability, adaptation, risk measures, and other aspects of natural and human systems.
- > Standardization and Data Exchange: It seeks the standardization of database formats and encourages data exchange between national and international institutions and agencies, promoting intra- and inter-institutional collaboration and a multidisciplinary approach.

The DataPINCC portal is a comprehensive platform that seeks to facilitate climate change research by providing access to useful data and tools for the scientific and educational community interested in understanding and furthering the study of climate change.

EpI-SPECIES University spatial eco-epidemiology platform

EpI-SPECIES is an interactive tool for the analysis of the epidemiological niche of infectious diseases and for the creation of predictive models to analyze their spatial-temporal dynamics in Mexico. The platform uses Bayesian algorithms to characterize the bioclimatic, ecological, and sociodemographic profile of vectors, hosts, or humans that have tested positive for a pathogen. Thus, it generates ecological and geographical models for the presence of infectious diseases. Moreover, the platform makes it possible to generate models of infectious disease incidence in environmental change scenarios. The Atlas of Infectious Diseases is a public consultation system for viewing spatiotemporal information on infectious diseases in Mexico and is a spatial eco-epidemiology tool for users in academia and government.

UNIATMOS: Regionalized climate change scenario CORDEX, AR6, IPCC atlas and repository for Mexico, Central America, Cuba, Jamaica, and southern United States of America.

The Atlas provides specialized and general users with visual materials and interactive monthly databases on the internet of regionalized climate change scenarios involving maximum and minimum temperatures and precipitation for Mexico, Central American countries, Cuba, Jamaica, and southern United States of America that serve as input for studies of impacts, vulnerability, and adaptation to climate change based on the Sixth Assessment Report of the United Nations Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC).



References

- 1. Estrada, F., Kim, D. & Perron, P. Anthropogenic influence in observed regional warming trends and the implied social time of emergence. *Commun. Earth Environ.* **2**, 31 (2021).
- 2. Estrada, F., Calderón-Bustamante, O., Botzen, W., Velasco, J. A. & Tol, R. S. J. AIRCC-Clim: A user-friendly tool for generating regional probabilistic climate change scenarios and risk measures. *Environ. Model. Softw.* **157**, 105528 (2022).
- 3. Estrada, F. & Botzen, W. J. W. Economic impacts and risks of climate change under failure and success of the Paris Agreement. *Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci.* **1504**, 95–115 (2021).
- Ruiz-Corral, J. A., Ramírez-Díaz, J. L., Flores-Mendoza, F. J. & Sánchez-González, J. de J. Cambio Climático Y Su Impacto Sobre La Estación De Crecimiento De Maíz En Jalisco, México. *Rev. Fitotec. Mex.* 23, 169 (2022).
- 5. Cohen, I. S. *et al.* Forced migration, climate change, mitigation and adaptive policies in mexico: Some functional relationships. *Int. Migr.* **51**, 53–72 (2013).
- Villers, L., Arizpe, N., Orellana, R., Conde, C. & Hernandez, J. Impactos del cambio climático en la floración y desarrollo del fruto del café en Veracruz, México. *Interciencia* 34, 322–329 (2009).
- López, M. T., Izaurralde, C., Rosenberg, N. J., Báez González, A. D. & García, J. S. Modeling El Niño Southern oscillation climate impact on Mexican agriculture. *Geofis. Int.* 42, 331–339 (2003).
- Santillán-Fernández, A., Santoyo-Cortés, V. H., García-Chávez, L. R., Covarrubias-Gutiérrez, I. & Merino, A. Influence of drought and irrigation on sugarcane yields in different agroecoregions in Mexico. *Agric. Syst.* 143, 126–135 (2016).
- 9. Estrada, F., Mendoza-Ponce, A., Calderón-Bustamante, O. & Botzen, W. Impacts and economic costs of climate change on Mexican agriculture. *Reg. Environ. Chang.* **22**, 1–16 (2022).
- 10. Conde, C. *et al.* Vulnerability of rainfed maize crops in Mexico to climate change. *Clim. Res.* **9**, 17–23 (1997).
- 11. Monterroso Rivas, A. I., Conde Álvarez, C., Rosales Dorantes, G., Gómez Díaz, J. D. & Gay García, C. Assessing current and potential rainfed maize suitability under climate change scenarios in México. *Atmosfera* (2011).
- 12. Murray-Tortarolo, G. N., Jaramillo, V. J. & Larsen, J. Food security and climate change: the case of rainfed maize production in Mexico. *Agric. For. Meteorol.* **253–254**, 124–131 (2018).
- 13. Murray-Tortarolo, G. N., Jaramillo, V. J. & Larsen, J. Food security and climate change: the case of rainfed maize production in Mexico. *Agric. For. Meteorol.* **253–254**, 124–131 (2018).
- Gómez Díaz, J. D., Flores Velázquez, R. & Monterroso Riva, A. I. Aptitud actual bajo escenarios de cambio climático para tres cultivos en México. *Rev. Mex. Ciencias Agrícolas* 11, 777–788 (2020).
- 15. Arce Romero, A. *et al.* Crop yield simulations in Mexican agriculture for climate change adaptation. *Atmosfera* **33**, 215–231 (2020).
- 16. Ureta, C. et al. Maize yield in Mexico under climate change. Agric. Syst. 177, 102697 (2020).

72 State and Perspectives of Climate Change in Mexico a Starting Point

- López-Blanco, J., Pérez-Damián, J. L., Conde-Álvarez, A. C., Gómez-Díaz, J. D. & Monterroso-Rivas, A. I. Land suitability levels for rainfed maize under current conditions and climate change projections in Mexico. *Outlook Agric*. (2018) doi:10.1177/0030727018794973.
- Gay, C., Estrada, F., Conde, C., Eakin, H. & Villers, L. Potential impacts of climate change on agriculture: A case of study of coffee production in Veracruz, Mexico. *Clim. Change* 79, (2006).
- 19. SIAP. Servicio de Información Agroalimentaria y Pesquera. https://www.agricultura.gob.mx/datos-abiertos/siap (2022).
- 20. Lobell, D. B. *et al.* Analysis of wheat yield and climatic trends in Mexico. *F. Crop. Res.* **94**, 250–256 (2005).
- 21. FAO. FAOSTAT Food and agriculture data. https://www.fao.org/faostat/en/#home (2022).
- 22. Hernandez-Ochoa, I. M. *et al.* Climate change impact on Mexico wheat production. *Agric. For. Meteorol.* **263**, 373–387 (2018).
- 23. Cerda-Hurtado, I. M. *et al.* Climatic adaptation and ecological descriptors of wild beans from Mexico. *Ecol. Evol.* **8**, 6492–6504 (2018).
- 24. Pecl, G. T. *et al.* Biodiversity redistribution under climate change: Impacts on ecosystems and human well-being. *Science* vol. 355 (2017).
- 25. Scheffers, B. R. *et al.* The broad footprint of climate change from genes to biomes to people. *Science* **354**, (2016).
- 26. Román-Palacios, C. & Wiens, J. J. Recent responses to climate change reveal the drivers of species extinction and survival. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **117**, 4211–4217 (2020).
- 27. Wiens, J. J. Climate-Related Local Extinctions Are Already Widespread among Plant and Animal Species. *PLoS Biol.* **14**, e2001104–e2001104 (2016).
- 28. Pacifici, M. *et al.* Assessing species vulnerability to climate change. *Nature Climate Change* vol. 5 215–225 (2015).
- 29. Urban, M. C. Accelerating extinction risk from climate change. Science 348, 571-573 (2015).
- 30. Antão, L. H. *et al.* Temperature-related biodiversity change across temperate marine and terrestrial systems. *Nature Ecology and Evolution* vol. 4 927–933 (2020).
- 31. Lenoir, J. *et al.* Species better track climate warming in the oceans than on land. *Nat. Ecol. Evol.* **4**, 1044–1059 (2020).
- 32. Martínez-Meyer, E. & Velasco, J. A. Contemporary Climate Change Impacts on Mexican Fauna. *Mex. Fauna Anthr.* 437–463 (2023) doi:10.1007/978-3-031-17277-9_20/FIGURES/5.
- 33. Reyes-Bonilla, H., Carriquiry, J. D., Leyte-Morales, G. E. & Cupul-Magaña, A. L. Effects of the El Niño-Southern Oscillation and the anti-El Niño event (1997-1999) on coral reefs of the western coast of México. *Coral Reefs* **21**, 368–372 (2002).
- 34. Romero-Torres, M. *et al.* Coral reef resilience to thermal stress in the Eastern Tropical Pacific. *Glob. Chang. Biol.* **26**, 3880–3890 (2020).
- 35. Eakin, C. M. *et al.* Caribbean corals in crisis: Record thermal stress, bleaching, and mortality in 2005. *PLoS One* **5**, e13969–e13969 (2010).
- 36. Estrada-Saldívar, N., Quiroga-García, B. A., Pérez-Cervantes, E., Rivera-Garibay, O. O. & Alvarez-Filip, L. Effects of the Stony Coral Tissue Loss Disease Outbreak on Coral Communities and the Benthic Composition of Cozumel Reefs. *Front. Mar. Sci.* **8**, (2021).
- 37. Muñiz-Castillo, A. I. *et al.* Three decades of heat stress exposure in Caribbean coral reefs: a new regional delineation to enhance conservation. *Sci. Rep.* **9**, 11013 (2019).
- Muñiz-castillo, A. I. & Mcfield, M. Additive influence of extreme events and local stressors on coral diversity in the Mesoamerican Reef during the last decade. 1–25 (2022) doi:10.21203/ rs.3.rs-1689589/v1.
- 39. Mendoza-González, G., Martínez, M. L., Lithgow, D., Pérez-Maqueo, O. & Simonin, P. Land use change and its effects on the value of ecosystem services along the coast of the Gulf of Mexico. *Ecol. Econ.* **82**, 23–32 (2012).
- Mendoza-González, G., Martínez, M. L., Rojas-Soto, O. R., Vázquez, G. & Gallego-Fernández, J. B. Ecological niche modeling of coastal dune plants and future potential distribution in response to climate change and sea level rise. *Glob. Chang. Biol.* 19, 2524–2535 (2013).
- 41. Mendoza-González, G. *et al.* Towards a sustainable sun, sea, and sand tourism: The value of ocean view and proximity to the coast. *Sustain.* **10**, 1012 (2018).
- 42. SCDB. Connecting Biodiversity and Climate Change Mitigation and Adaptation: Report of the Second Ad Hoc Technical Expert Group on Biodiversity and Climate Change. CBD Technical Series (2009).
- 43. Sinervo, B. *et al.* Erosion of lizard diversity by climate change and altered thermal niches. *Science* **328**, 894–899 (2010).
- 44. Sáenz-Romero, C. *et al.* Recent evidence of Mexican temperate forest decline and the need for ex situ conservation, assisted migration, and translocation of species ensembles as adaptive management to face projected climatic change impacts in a Megadiverse country. *Can. J. For. Res.* **50**, 843–854 (2020).
- 45. Townsend Peterson, A. *et al.* Twentieth century turnover of Mexican endemic avifaunas: Landscape change versus climate drivers. *Sci. Adv.* **1**, e1400071–e1400071 (2015).
- 46. Jiménez-García, D., Li, X., Lira-Noriega, A. & Peterson, A. T. Upward shifts in elevational limits of forest and grassland for Mexican volcanoes over three decades. *Biotropica* **53**, 798–807 (2021).
- 47. Feria Arroyo, T. P. *et al.* Estudio del cambio climático y su efecto en las aves en México: enfoques actuales y perspectivas futuras. *Huit. Rev. Mex. Ornitol.* **14**, 47–55 (2013).
- 48. Ochoa-Ochoa, L. M., Rodríguez, P., Mora, F., Flores-Villela, O. & Whittaker, R. J. Climate change and amphibian diversity patterns in Mexico. *Biol. Conserv.* **150**, 94–102 (2012).
- 49. Peterson, A. T. *et al.* Future projections for Mexican faunas under global climate change scenarios. *Nature* **416**, 626–629 (2002).
- 50. Prieto-Torres, D. A., Lira-Noriega, A. & Navarro-Sigüenza, A. G. Climate change promotes species loss and uneven modification of richness patterns in the avifauna associated to Neotropical seasonally dry forests. *Perspect. Ecol. Conserv.* **18**, 19–30 (2020).

- 51. Prieto-Torres, D. A., Nori, J., Rojas-Soto, O. R. & Navarro-Sigüenza, A. G. Challenges and opportunities in planning for the conservation of Neotropical seasonally dry forests into the future. *Biol. Conserv.* **257**, 109083 (2021).
- 52. Prieto-Torres, D. A., Nuñez Rosas, L. E., Remolina Figueroa, D. & Arizmendi, M. del C. Most Mexican hummingbirds lose under climate and land-use change: Long-term conservation implications. *Perspect. Ecol. Conserv.* **19**, 487–499 (2021).
- 53. Trejo, I. *et al.* Analysis of the effects of climate change on plant communities and mammals in México. *Atmosfera* **24**, 1–14 (2011).
- 54. Ballesteros-Barrera, C. *et al.* The Potential Effect of Climate Change on the Distribution of Endemic Anurans from Mexico's Tropical Dry Forest. *Diversity* **14**, 650 (2022).
- 55. Gómez-Pineda, E. *et al.* Suitable climatic habitat changes for Mexican conifers along altitudinal gradients under climatic change scenarios. *Ecol. Appl.* **30**, (2020).
- 56. Gay, C. & Estrada, F. Objective probabilities about future climate are a matter of opinion. *Clim. Change* **99**, 27–46 (2010).
- 57. Knutti, R. & Sedlá ek, J. Robustness and uncertainties in the new CMIP5 climate model projections. *Nat. Clim. Chang.* **3**, 369–373 (2013).
- 58. Cotto, O. *et al.* A dynamic eco-evolutionary model predicts slow response of alpine plants to climate warming. *Nat. Commun.* **8**, 15399 (2017).
- 59. Diniz-Filho, J. A. F. *et al.* A macroecological approach to evolutionary rescue and adaptation to climate change. *Ecography (Cop.).* **42**, 1124–1141 (2019).
- 60. Lyons, M. P. & Kozak, K. H. Vanishing islands in the sky? A comparison of correlation- and mechanism-based forecasts of range dynamics for montane salamanders under climate change. *Ecography (Cop.).* **43**, 481–493 (2020).
- 61. Cosgrove, W. J. & Loucks, D. P. Water management: Current and future challenges and research directions. *Water Resour. Res.* **51**, 4823–4839 (2015).
- 62. World Economic Forum. *Global Risk 2015*. (World Economic Forum, 2015).
- 63. World Economic Forum, Marsh McLennan & Zurich Insurance Group. *The Global Risks Report* 2023. (2023).
- 64. SEMARNAT-CONAGUA. Estadísticas del Agua en México. (2018).
- 65. SEMARNAT-CONAGUA. Localizador de Registro Público de Derechos de Agua (REPDA) de aguas nacionales, zonas federales y descargas de aguas residuales. (2020).
- 66. SEMARNAT-CONAGUA. Disponibilidad de acuíferos. (2020).
- 67. Arreguín-Cortés, F. I. & López-Pérez, M. Impacts of climate change on the hydrological cycle in Mexico. *Int. J. Water Resour. Dev.* **29**, 172–183 (2013).
- 68. Lankao, P. R. Water in mexico city: What will climate change bring to its history of water-related hazards and vulnerabilities? *Environ. Urban.* **22**, 157–178 (2010).
- 69. Martinez, S., Kralisch, S., Escolero, O. & Perevochtchikova, M. Vulnerability of Mexico city's water supply sources in the context of climate change. *J. Water Clim. Chang.* **6**, 518–533 (2015).
- Escolero, O., Kralisch, S., Martínez, S. E. & Perevochtchikova, M. Diagnosis and analysis of factors influencing the vulnerability of drinking water sources in Mexico City, Mexico. *Bol. la Soc. Geol. Mex.* 68, 409–427 (2016).

- 71. Bravo-Cadena, J., Pavón, N. P., Balvanera, P., Sánchez-Rojas, G. & Razo-Zarate, R. Water availability-demand balance under climate change scenarios in an overpopulated region of Mexico. *Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health* **18**, 1–16 (2021).
- 72. Herrera-Pantoja, M. & Hiscock, K. M. Projected impacts of climate change on water availability indicators in a semi-arid region of central Mexico. *Environ. Sci. Policy* **54**, 81–89 (2015).
- 73. González-Villarreal, F., Domínguez-Mares, M. & Arriaga-Medina, J. Sustainability of water resources in tropical regions in the face of climate change. in *Sustainability of Integrated Water Resources Management: Water Governance, Climate and Ecohydrology* 181–195 (Springer International Publishing, 2015). doi:10.1007/978-3-319-12194-9_11.
- Molina-Navarro, E. *et al.* Hydrological modeling and climate change impacts in an agricultural semiarid region. Case study: Guadalupe River basin, Mexico. *Agric. Water Manag.* 175, 29–42 (2016).
- 75. SEMARNAT-CONAGUA. Estadísticas agrícolas de los distritos de temporal tecnificado, año agrícola 2020-2021. 1–152 https://www.gob.mx/conagua/documentos/estadisticas-agricolas-de-los-distritos-de-temporal-tecnificado (2021).
- 76. Magaña, Ví. O. & Conde, C. Climate and freshwater resources in northern Mexico: Sonora, a case study. *Environ. Monit. Assess.* **61**, 167–185 (2000).
- Montes, R. T., Navarro, I., Domínguez, R. & Jiménez, B. Modificación de la capacidad de autodepuración del Río Magdalena ante el cambio climático. *Tecnol. y Ciencias del Agua* 4, 71–83 (2013).
- 78. García, A. J., Ramíres, N., Vazquez, C. & Leal, T. *Impacto del Cambio Climático en la Calidad del Agua en México. Coordinación de Tratamiento y Calidad del Agua* (2011).
- 79. Noyola, A., Morgan, J. & Guereca, L. Selección de tecnologías para el tratamiento de aguas residuales municipales. Guía de apoyo para ciudades pequeñas y medianas. Instituto de Ingeniería de UNAM http://es.slideshare.net/EdwinMamaniVilcapaza/seleccion-de-tecnologias-para-el-tratamiento-de-aguas-residuales-municipales (2013).
- 80. Martínez-Austria, P. F., Hidalgo, A. V. & Patiño-Gómez, C. Dynamic modelling of the climate change impact in the Conchos River basin water management. *Tecnol. y Ciencias del Agua* **10**, 207–233 (2019).
- 81. Berrang-Ford, L. *et al.* Systematic mapping of global research on climate and health: a machine learning review. *Lancet Planet. Heal.* **5**, e514–e525 (2021).
- Mills, J. N., Gage, K. L. & Khan, A. S. Potential influence of climate change on vector-borne and zoonotic diseases: A review and proposed research plan. *Environ. Health Perspect.* 118, 1507–1514 (2010).
- 83. Patz, J. A. Health: Ecosystem Regulation of Infectious Diseases. in *Ecosystems and Human Well-Being: Current State and Trends. Findings of the Condition and Trends* (ed. Millennium Ecosystem Assessment) (Island Press, 2005).
- 84. Shimshony, A. Zoonoses remain a significant concern in modern medicine. *Infect. Dis. News* 8 (2008) doi:10.3201/eid0302.970221.
- 85. Buhnerkempe, M. G. *et al.* Eight challenges in modelling disease ecology in multi-host, multi-agent systems. *Epidemics* **10**, 26–30 (2015).

- 86. Acha, P. N. & Szyfres, B. Zoonosis y enfermedades transmisibles comunes al hombre y a los animales. Volumen I: Bacteriosis y micosis. *Rev. Esp. Salud Publica* **75**, 263–264 (2001).
- 87. Bueno-Marí, R., Almeida, A. P. G. & Navarro, J. C. Editorial: Emerging Zoonoses: Eco-Epidemiology, Involved Mechanisms, and Public Health Implications. *Frontiers in Public Health* vol. 3 (2015).
- Hurtado-Díaz, M., Riojas-Rodríguez, H., Rothenberg, S. J., Gomez-Dantés, H. & Cifuentes, E. Short communication: Impact of climate variability on the incidence of dengue in Mexico. *Trop. Med. Int. Heal.* 12, 1327–1337 (2007).
- 89. Colón-González, F. J., Lake, I. R. & Bentham, G. Climate variability and dengue fever in warm and humid Mexico. *Am. J. Trop. Med. Hyg.* **84**, 757–763 (2011).
- Dantés, H. G., Farfán-Ale, J. A. & Sarti, E. Epidemiological Trends of Dengue Disease in Mexico (2000–2011): A Systematic Literature Search and Analysis. *PLoS Negl. Trop. Dis.* 8, e3158–e3158 (2014).
- 91. Ibáñez-Cervantes, G. *et al.* Evolution of incidence and geographical distribution of Chagas disease in Mexico during a decade (2007-2016). *Epidemiol. Infect.* **147**, e41–e41 (2019).
- 92. A Vado-Solís, I. *et al.* Estudio de casos clínicos e incidencia de leptospirosis humana en el estado de Yucatán, México durante el período 1998 a 2000. *Rev. Biomédica* **13**, 157–164 (2002).
- 93. Eisen, L. *et al.* Temporal correlations between mosquito-based dengue virus surveillance measures or indoor mosquito abundance and dengue case numbers in Mérida City, Mexico. *J. Med. Entomol.* **51**, 885–890 (2014).
- 94. García, C., García, L., Espinosa-Carreón, L. & César, L. Abundancia y distribución de Aedes aegypti (Diptera: Culicidae) y dispersión del dengue en guasave sinaloa, méxico. *Rev. Biol. Trop.* 59, 1609–1619 (2011).
- 95. Hernández-Aguilar, I., Lorenzo, C., Santos-Moreno, A., Gutiérrez, D. N. & Naranjo, E. J. Current Knowledge and Ecological and Human Impact Variables Involved in the Distribution of the Dengue Virus by Bats in the Americas. *Vector-Borne Zoonotic Dis.* **21**, 217–231 (2021).
- 96. Leduc-Galindo, D. *et al.* Characterization of the dengue outbreak in Nuevo Leon state, Mexico, 2010. *Infection* **43**, 201–206 (2015).
- 97. Núñez-López, M., Alarcón Ramos, L. & Velasco-Hernández, J. X. Migration rate estimation in an epidemic network. *Appl. Math. Model.* **89**, 1949–1964 (2021).
- 98. Robles-Fernández, Á. L., Santiago-Alarcon, D. & Lira-Noriega, A. American Mammals Susceptibility to Dengue According to Geographical, Environmental, and Phylogenetic Distances. *Front. Vet. Sci.* **8**, 604560 (2021).
- 99. Solís-Navarro, M., Vargas-De-León, C., Gúzman-Martínez, M. & Corzo-Gómez, J. A Bayesian Prediction Spatial Model for Confirmed Dengue Cases in the State of Chiapas, Mexico. *J. Trop. Med.* **2022**, 1971786 (2022).
- 100. Brunkard, J. M., Cifuentes, E. & Rothenberg, S. J. Assessing the roles of temperature, precipitation, and ENSO in dengue re-emergence on the Texas-Mexico border region. *Salud Publica Mex.* 50, 227–234 (2008).
- 101. Betanzos-Reyes, Á. F. *et al.* Association of dengue fever with Aedes spp. abundance and climatological effects. *Salud Publica Mex.* **60**, 12–20 (2018).

- 102. Bowman, L. R. *et al.* Alarm variables for dengue outbreaks: A multi-centre study in Asia and Latin America. *PLoS One* **11**, e0157971–e0157971 (2016).
- 103. Escobar-Mesa, J. & Gómez-Dantés, H. Determinantes de la transmisión de dengue en Veracruz: Un abordaje ecológico para su control. *Salud Publica Mex.* **45**, 43–53 (2003).
- 104. Laureano-Rosario, A. E. *et al.* Application of Artificial Neural Networks for Dengue Fever Outbreak Predictions in the Northwest Coast of Yucatan, Mexico and San Juan, Puerto Rico. *Trop. Med. Infect. Dis.* **3**, 5 (2018).
- 105. Moreno-Banda, G. L., Riojas-Rodríguez, H., Hurtado-Díaz, M., Danis-Lozano, R. & Rothenberg, S. J. Effects of climatic and social factors on dengue incidence in Mexican municipalities in the state of Veracruz. *Salud Publica Mex.* **59**, 41–52 (2017).
- 106. Ordoñez-Sierra, R. *et al.* Spatial Risk Distribution of Dengue Based on the Ecological Niche Model of Aedes aegypti (Diptera: Culicidae) in the Central Mexican Highlands. *J. Med. Entomol.* 57, 728–737 (2020).
- 107. Sánchez-González, G., Condé, R., Moreno, R. N. & López Vázquez, P. C. Prediction of dengue outbreaks in Mexico based on entomological, meteorological and demographic data. *PLoS One* 13, e0196047-e0196047 (2018).
- 108. Villarreal-Treviño, C. *et al.* Composition and abundance of anopheline species according to habitat diversity in Mexico. *Salud Publica Mex.* **62**, 388–401 (2020).
- Hernández-Avila, J. E. *et al.* Determinant factors for malaria transmission on the coast of Oaxaca State, the main residual transmission focus in Mexico. *Salud Publica Mex.* 48, 405–417 (2006).
- 110. Garza, M. *et al.* Projected Future Distributions of Vectors of Trypanosoma cruzi in North America under Climate Change Scenarios. *PLoS Negl. Trop. Dis.* **8**, e2818–e2818 (2014).
- Moo-Llanes, D. A., Montes de Oca-Aguilar, A. C. & Rodríguez-Rojas, J. J. Pattern of climate connectivity and equivalent niche of Triatominae species of the Phyllosoma complex. *Med. Vet. Entomol.* 34, 440–451 (2020).
- 112. Schettino, P. M. S. *et al.* Triatoma mexicana (Hemiptera: Reduviidae) in Guanajuato, Mexico: house infestation and seasonal variation. *Mem. Inst. Oswaldo Cruz* **102**, 803–807 (2007).
- 113. Torres, M. E. *et al.* Biogeographical Factors Determining Triatoma Recurva Distribution In Chihuahua, México, 2014. *Biomedica* **40**, 516–527 (2020).
- 114. González-Salazar, C. *et al.* Toward New Epidemiological Landscapes of Trypanosoma cruzi (Kinetoplastida, Trypanosomatidae) Transmission under Future Human-Modified Land Cover and Climatic Change in Mexico. *Trop. Med. Infect. Dis.* 7, 221 (2022).
- Carmona-Castro, O., Moo-Llanes, D. A. & Ramsey, J. M. Impact of climate change on vector transmission of Trypanosoma cruzi (Chagas, 1909) in North America. *Med. Vet. Entomol.* 32, 84–101 (2018).
- 116. Chico-Avelino, M. *et al.* Synanthropic triatomines in Hidalgo state, Mexico: Spatial-temporal distribution, domestic transmission cycle, and natural infection with Trypanosoma cruzi. *Acta Trop.* **234**, 106618 (2022).
- 117. Cruz-Reyes, A. & Pickering-López, J. M. Chagas disease in Mexico: An analysis of geographical distribution during the past 76 years A review. *Mem. Inst. Oswaldo Cruz* **101**, 345–354 (2006).

- 118. Flores-López, C. A. *et al.* Potential distributions of the parasite Trypanosoma cruzi and its vector Dipetalogaster maxima highlight areas at risk of Chagas disease transmission in Baja California Sur, Mexico, under climate change. *Med. Vet. Entomol.* **36**, 469–479 (2022).
- 119. Ramsey, J. M. *et al.* Atlas of Mexican Triatominae (Reduviidae: Hemiptera) and vector transmission of Chagas disease. *Mem. Inst. Oswaldo Cruz* **110**, 339–352 (2015).
- 120. Valdez Tah, A. R., Huicochea Gómez, L., Nazar Beutelspacher, A., Ortega Canto, J. & Ramsey, J. M. Human vulnerability to Trypanosoma cruzi vector transmission through health-disease processes and social appropriation of the territory. *Salud Colect.* 11, 191–210 (2015).
- 121. Guzmán-Gómez, D. *et al.* Risk factors for infestation by Triatoma dimidiata in a rural locality of Veracruz, Mexico, with active transmission of Trypanosoma cruzi: weather and rain as factors. *Trop. Med. Int. Heal.* **26**, 916–926 (2021).
- 122. de Fuentes-Vicente, J. A. *et al.* What makes an effective Chagas disease vector? Factors underlying Trypanosoma cruzi-triatomine interactions. *Acta Trop.* **183**, 23–31 (2018).
- 123. Cunze, S., Kochmann, J., Koch, L. K., Genthner, E. & Klimpel, S. Vector distribution and transmission risk of the Zika virus in South and Central America. *PeerJ* **2019**, e7920–e7920 (2019).
- 124. Onyango, M. G. *et al.* Increased temperatures reduce the vectorial capacity of Aedes mosquitoes for Zika virus. *Emerg. Microbes Infect.* **9**, 67–77 (2020).
- 125. Illoldi-Rangel, P. *et al.* Species distribution models and ecological suitability analysis for potential tick vectors of Lyme disease in Mexico. *J. Trop. Med.* **2012**, 959101 (2012).
- 126. Feria-Arroyo, T. P. *et al.* Implications of climate change on the distribution of the tick vector Ixodes scapularis and risk for Lyme disease in the Texas-Mexico transboundary region. *Parasites and Vectors* **7**, 199 (2014).
- 127. González, C. *et al.* Climate change and risk of leishmaniasis in North America: Predictions from ecological niche models of vector and reservoir species. *PLoS Negl. Trop. Dis.* **4**, e585–e585 (2010).
- Moo-Llanes, D. *et al.* Current and Future Niche of North and Central American Sand Flies (Diptera: Psychodidae) in Climate Change Scenarios. *PLoS Negl. Trop. Dis.* 7, e2421–e2421 (2013).
- 129. Purse, B. V. *et al.* How will climate change pathways and mitigation options alter incidence of vector-borne diseases? A framework for leishmaniasis in South and Meso-America. *PLoS One* 12, e0183583–e0183583 (2017).
- 130. Flores Monter, Y. M. *et al.* Edaphoclimatic seasonal trends and variations of the Salmonella spp. infection in Northwestern Mexico. *Infect. Dis. Model.* **6**, 805–819 (2021).
- 131. Equihua, M. *et al.* Establishment of Aedes aegypti (L.) in mountainous regions in Mexico: Increasing number of population at risk of mosquito-borne disease and future climate conditions. *Acta Trop.* **166**, 316–327 (2017).
- 132. Mejía-Guevara, M. D. *et al.* Aedes aegypti, the dengue fever mosquito in Mexico city. Early invasion and its potential risks. *Gac. Med. Mex.* **156**, 388–395 (2020).
- 133. Tovar-Zamora, I. *et al.* Seasonal Variation in Abundance of Dengue Vector in the Southern Part of the Baja California Peninsula, Mexico. *Southwest. Entomol.* **44**, 885–895 (2019).

- 134. Asin, S. & Catala, S. Development of Trypanosoma cruzi in Triatoma infestans: Influence of temperature and blood consumption. *J. Parasitol.* **81**, 1–7 (1995).
- 135. Carcavallo, R. U. Climatic Factors Related to Chagas Disease Transmission. *Mem. Inst. Oswaldo Cruz* **94**, 367–369 (1999).
- 136. Tamayo, L. D., Guhl, F., Vallejo, G. A. & Ramírez, J. D. The effect of temperature increase on the development of Rhodnius prolixus and the course of Trypanosoma cruzi metacyclogenesis. *PLoS Negl. Trop. Dis.* **12**, e0006735–e0006735 (2018).
- Yañez-Arenas, C. *et al.* Characterizing environmental suitability of Aedes albopictus (Diptera: Culicidae) in Mexico based on regional and global niche models. *J. Med. Entomol.* 55, 69–77 (2018).
- 138. Lubinda, J. *et al.* Environmental suitability for Aedes aegypti and Aedes albopictus and the spatial distribution of major arboviral infections in Mexico. *Parasite Epidemiol. Control* **6**, e00116-e00116 (2019).
- 139. Escamilla-Núñez, C. *et al.* Trends in the prevalence of ARIs and ADDs in early childhood and associated factors: Ensanut 2012 and 100k. *Salud Publica Mex.* **61**, 798–808 (2019).
- 140. Hurtado-Diaz, M., de la Cruz, J. C., Blanco-Mu[~]noz, J., Azamar-Arizmendi, R. A. & Riojas-Rodriguez, H. Revisión rápida de los efectos de la variación de la temperatura y la humedad en la morbilidad y mortalidad por Covid-19. *Salud Publica Mex.* **63**, 120–125 (2020).
- 141. Salcido, A. & Castro, T. Influence of meteorological patterns on the 2020 COVID-19 pandemic in the Mexico City region. *Environ. Adv.* **7**, 100157 (2022).
- 142. Kutralam-Muniasamy, G., Pérez-Guevara, F., Roy, P. D., Elizalde-Martínez, I. & Shruti, V. C. Impacts of the COVID-19 lockdown on air quality and its association with human mortality trends in megapolis Mexico City. *Air Qual. Atmos. Heal.* **14**, 553–562 (2021).
- 143. Escamilla-Nuñez, M. C. *et al.* Traffic-related air pollution and respiratory symptoms among asthmatic children, resident in Mexico City: The EVA cohort study. *Respir. Res.* **9**, 74 (2008).
- 144. Carbajal-Arroyo, L. *et al.* Effect of PM10 and O3 on infant mortality among residents in the Mexico City Metropolitan Area: A case-crossover analysis, 1997-2005. *J. Epidemiol. Communi-ty Health* **65**, 715–721 (2011).
- Hurtado-Díaz, M. *et al.* Short-term effects of ambient temperature on non-external and cardiovascular mortality among older adults of metropolitan areas of Mexico. *Int. J. Biometeorol.* 63, 1641–1650 (2019).
- 146. Ugalde-Resano, R., Riojas-Rodríguez, H., Texcalac-Sangrador, J. L., Cruz, J. C. & Hurtado-Díaz, M. Short term exposure to ambient air pollutants and cardiovascular emergency department visits in Mexico city. *Environ. Res.* 207, 112600 (2022).
- 147. Hansson, E., Mansourian, A., Farnaghi, M., Petzold, M. & Jakobsson, K. An ecological study of chronic kidney disease in five Mesoamerican countries: associations with crop and heat. *BMC Public Health* **21**, 840 (2021).
- 148. Burke, M. *et al.* Higher temperatures increase suicide rates in the United States and Mexico. *Nat. Clim. Chang.* **8**, 723–729 (2018).
- 149. Yu, J. *et al.* Seasonality of suicide: A multi-country multi-community observational study. *Epidemiol. Psychiatr. Sci.* **29**, e163–e163 (2020).

- 150. Fernández-Arteaga, V. *et al.* Association between completed suicide and environmental temperature in a Mexican population, using the Knowledge Discovery in Database approach. *Comput. Methods Programs Biomed.* **135**, 219–224 (2016).
- Chowell, G., Hyman, J. M., Díaz-Dueñas, P. & Hengartner, N. W. Predicting scorpion sting incidence in an endemic region using climatological variables. *Int. J. Environ. Health Res.* 15, 425–435 (2005).
- 152. Hurtado-Díaz, M. *et al.* Influence of increasing temperature on the scorpion sting incidence by climatic regions. *Int. J. Climatol.* **38**, 2167–2173 (2018).
- 153. Gasparrini, A. *et al.* Projections of temperature-related excess mortality under climate change scenarios. *Lancet Planet. Heal.* **1**, e360–e367 (2017).
- 154. López-Olmedo, N. *et al.* Climate Trends and Consumption of Foods and Beverages by Processing Level in Mexican Cities. *Front. Nutr.* **8**, 647497 (2021).
- 155. Conde, C., Ferrer, R. & Liveman, D. Estudio de la vulnerabilidad de la agricultura de maíz de temporal mediante el modelo Ceres-Maize. *México Una visión hacia el siglo XXI. El cambio climático en Mex.* 93–110 (2000).
- 156. Villers-Ruíz, L. & Trejo-Vázquez, I. El cambio climático y la vegetación en México. *Inst. Geogr. UNAM* **Sin vol**, 57–68 (2000).
- 157. Estrada, F., Gay, C. & Conde, C. A methodology for the risk assessment of climate variability and change under uncertainty. A case study: Coffee production in Veracruz, Mexico. *Clim. Change* **113**, 455–479 (2012).
- 158. Estrada, F. & Martinez, B. *Economía del Cambio Climático en la Ciudad de México*. (Universidad Nacional Autónoma de México, 2011).
- 159. Estrada, F., Botzen, W. J. W. & Tol, R. S. J. Economic losses from US hurricanes consistent with an influence from climate change. *Nat. Geosci.* **8**, (2015).
- 160. Estrada, F., Tol, R. S. J. & Gay-García, C. The persistence of shocks in GDP and the estimation of the potential economic costs of climate change. *Environ. Model. Softw.* **69**, 155–165 (2015).
- 161. Estrada, F., Botzen, W. J. W. & Tol, R. S. J. A global economic assessment of city policies to reduce climate change impacts. *Nat. Clim. Chang.* **7**, 403–406 (2017).
- 162. Ignjacevic, P., Estrada, F. & Botzen, W. J. W. Time of emergence of economic impacts of climate change. *Environ. Res. Lett.* **16**, 074039 (2021).
- 163. SEMARNAT-INECC. Sexta Comunicación Nacional y Segundo Informe Bienal de Actualización ante la Convención Marco de las Naciones Unidas sobre el Cambio climático. SEMARNAT (2018).
- 164. INECC. Evaluación Estratégica del Programa Especial de Cambio Climático 2014-2018. https://www.gob.mx/cms/uploads/attachment/file/261388/Informe__evaluacion_PECC_final_limpio_1_.pdf (2017).
- 165. INECC. Evaluación Estratégica del Anexo Transversal del Presupuesto de Egresos de la Federación en materia de Cambio Climático. Informe Final. 86 https://www.gob.mx/cms/uploads/ attachment/file/261388/Informe__evaluacion_PECC_final_limpio_1_.pdf (2017).

- 166. INECC. Sistema de Indicadores de la Política Nacional de Cambio Climático. https://www.gob.mx/cms/uploads/attachment/file/690906/124_2021_Sistema_Indicadores_PNCC.pdf (2021).
- 167. SENER. Reporte Anual del Potencial de Mitigación de GEI en el Sector Eléctrico y su metodología. 9–12 https://www.gob.mx/sener/articulos/reporte-anual-del-potencial-de-mitigacionde-gei-en-el-sector-electrico (2020).
- 168. Estrada, F., Botzen, W. J. W. & Calderon-Bustamante, O. The Assessment of Impacts and Risks of Climate Change on Agriculture (AIRCCA) model: a tool for the rapid global risk assessment for crop yields at a spatially explicit scale. *Spat. Econ. Anal.* **15**, 262–279 (2020)



Published in CDMX, Mexico, in September 2023 by UNAM Climate Change Research Program